
  1 

 

Agenda 

 
Contact Officer: Candida Mckelvey, Democratic Services Officer 
 
Tel: 07895 213820 
 

 

E-mail: candida.mckelvey@southandvale.gov.uk 
 
Date: 1 August 2022 
 
Website: www.southoxon.gov.uk 

 
 

 

A MEETING OF THE 
 

Planning Committee 

 

WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 10 AUGUST 2022 AT 6.00 PM 
 

FIRST FLOOR MEETING SPACE, 135 EASTERN AVENUE, MILTON PARK, 
OX14 4SB 
 
You can watch this meeting via this weblink: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ 
 

Members of the Committee: 

David Bretherton (Chair) 

Peter Dragonetti (Vice-
Chair) 
Ken Arlett 
Tim Bearder 
Sam Casey-Rerhaye 

Victoria Haval 
Elizabeth Gillespie 
Lorraine Hillier 
Axel Macdonald 

Ian Snowdon 
Alan Thompson 

 
Substitutes 

vacancy 
Celia Wilson 
Stefan Gawrysiak 
Alexandrine Kantor 

Mocky Khan 
Jane Murphy 
Caroline Newton 
Sue Roberts 

Jo Robb 
David Turner 
Kellie Hinton 
Kate Gregory 

 

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These include 
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special 
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on 
this agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting. 

 
Patrick Arran 
Head of Legal and Democratic 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ


  2 

 

1  Chair's announcements   
 

To receive any announcements from the chair and general housekeeping matters. 
 
2  Apologies for absence   

 
To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members. 
 
3  Minutes of the previous meeting  (Pages 5 - 28) 

 
To adopt and sign as a correct record the Planning Committee minutes of the meetings 
held on 8 June, 29 June and 20 July 2022.   
 
4  Declarations of interest   

 
To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests, other registrable interests 
and non-registrable interests or any conflicts of interest in respect of items on the 
agenda for this meeting. 

 
5  Urgent business   

 
To receive notification of any matters which the chair determines should be considered 
as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the matters 
urgent and to receive any notification of any applications deferred or withdrawn. 

 
6  Proposals for site visits   

 
7  Public participation   

 
To receive any statements from members of the public that have registered to speak 
on planning applications which are being presented to this committee meeting.   
 

Development control applications 

 
 

Planning applications - background papers and additional 
information 

 
All the background papers with the exception of those papers marked 
exempt/confidential (eg those held in enforcement files) used in the reports in this 
agenda are held in the application file (working file) referenced by the application 
number.  
 
Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be 
reported and summarised at the meeting. 
 
 
 

 



  3 

 

 
Summary index of applications 

 

 Site Address Proposal Application No Page 

 
     
8  P21/S4923/FUL  

Cholsey Free 
Church 26A 
Honey Lane 
Cholsey, OX10 
9NL   

Full application for a proposed 
change of use from a church to 
residential use as amended by plans 
received on 4 January. (As amended 
by plans received on 24 January 
altering the fenestration details and 
amplified by bat report received 7 
March 2022 and as amplified by bat 
survey report dated 27 June 2022). 

 29 - 44 

 

     
9  P22/S0429/FUL

Land at 69 
West Chiltern 
Woodcote, RG8 
0SG   

Full application for a proposed new 
dwelling. (Amended plans received 
30th May 2022, reducing depth of 
front projection, relocating dormer 
windows to front roofslope and 
increasing off-street parking 
provision). 

 45 - 66 

 

     
10  P22/S1116/FUL

21 Kellys Road 
Wheatley, 
OX33 1NT   

A full application for the demolition of 
an existing detached garage. 
Erection of new contemporary two 
storey two bed dwelling. Provision of 
private amenity space with off street 
parking utilising existing highway 
access to Kellys Road. Provision of 
enclosed bin and bike stores. (As 
amended by drawing no 21-021-P-
001-C and revised Design and 
Access Statement accompanying 
Agent's email dated 19 July 2022). 

 67 - 80 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

Minutes 

OF A MEETING OF THE 
 

 

Planning Committee 

HELD ON WEDNESDAY 8 JUNE 2022 AT 6.00 PM 
FIRST FLOOR MEETING SPACE, 135 EASTERN AVENUE, MILTON PARK, 
OX14 4SB 
 

 

Present in the meeting room: 
Councillors: David Bretherton (Chair), Peter Dragonetti (Vice-Chair), Ken Arlett, Tim 
Bearder, Sam Casey-Rerhaye, Victoria Haval, Elizabeth Gillespie, Lorraine Hillier, Axel 
Macdonald, and Alan Thompson 
Officers: Paul Bateman (Democratic Services Officer) and Paula Fox (Development 
Manager – Planning) 
 

Remote attendance:  
Councillors: Alexandrine Kantor 
Officers: Sharon Crawford (Planning Team Leader), Michael Flowers (Democratic 
Services Officer), Kim Gould (Planning and Development Officer), Andy Heron (Planning 
and Development Officer), Paul Lucas (Senior Planning Officer), and Susie Royce 
(Broadcasting Officer) 
 
 

1 Chair's announcements  
 
The chair welcomed everyone to the meeting, outlined the procedure to be followed and 
advised on emergency evacuation arrangements. 
 

2 Apologies for absence  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Ian Snowdon. 
 

3 Minutes of the previous meeting  
 
RESOLVED: to approve the minutes of the previous meeting held on Wednesday 6 April 
2022 as a correct record and agree that the chair signs them as such. 
 

4 Declarations of interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

5 Urgent business  
 
There was no urgent business. 
 

6 Proposals for site visits  
 

Public Document Pack

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 2 

There were no proposals for site visits. 
 

7 Public participation  
 
The list showing members of the public who had registered to speak had been sent to the 
committee prior to the meeting. Statements which had been received from the public had 
been circulated to the committee prior to the meeting.  
 

8 P20/S2504/FUL - 46 King James Way, Henley-on-Thames  
 
The committee considered application P20/S2504/FUL for the change of use of ground 
floor of existing building from residential to a mixed use of residential and childcare 
purposes and addition of a temporary wooden structure to the garden to provide a covered 
area at 46 King James Way, Henley on Thames. 

 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting. 
 
The planning officer informed the committee that the garden room at the rear of the garden 
would result in a total loss of outdoor amenity space with some harm to the residential 
amenity of property number 46. In addition, the depth of the low roof would result in some 
loss of sight on property number 44, which detracted from the overall residential amenity. It 
was noted that there had been no objections to the application from the environmental 
health officer nor the highways officer. In assessing the application, the planning officer 
explained that whilst there was a moderate harm to the residential amenity due to conflicts 
with local planning policies DES5 and DES6, the harm had been outweighed by the 
community and employment benefits. The planning officer concluded that the conditions 
would be tied to childcare purposes, and limitations would allow a maximum number of 
children of seven to use the site, and the site’s usage would be limited to working day 
times only. Subject to the proposed conditions as detailed in the planning officer’s report 
and presentation, the application was recommended for approval. 
 
Councillor Ken Arlett, representative of Henley-on-Thames Town Council, spoke in 
objection to the application. 
 
The committee asked whether the conditions would require the dismantling of the 
proposed development if the dwelling was to change to a fully residential unit. The 
planning officer in response read out the full condition which dealt with this question. 
 
The committee asked if OFSTED had visited the site since the timber building had been 
built and if not, whether the business was lawful without an OFSTED review having taken 
place. The planning officer responded that this matter was not a planning matter but rather 
an issue that OFSTED would need to handle. The planning officer added that the 
committee’s consideration should be tied to the application before them and whether they 
felt it was acceptable, based on planning considerations. The committee asked a follow-up 
question and asked if the environmental health or highways officers had visited the site 
before making no objection. The planning officer advised the committee that he was not 
aware of any details, but reassured the committee that these officers would have had 
access to the same information the committee had and that environmental health 
colleagues also had access to the complaints database, and so could have seen if any 
complaints had been made already. The planning officer was also asked if they knew how 
many of the neighbouring properties were held as rented property, to which they advised 
that this was not information the council would hold. 

Page 6



 3 

 
The committee raised concerns on the application’s compliance with policy and guidance 
with an expression that the proposed development did not comply with criteria. The 
committee noted that the building did not keep in character to the surrounding area and 
failed to provide any mitigating enhancement to the surroundings. Additionally, the 
committee was concerned with the loss of amenity space, with no replacement space 
being provided, or existing land altered to provide replacement amenity space. In response 
to these concerns, the planning officer stated that in his view, the application would not 
detract from the surroundings and in that regard would not conflict with policy guidance. 
 
In response to a series of questions from the committee relating to the type of use of the 
proposed application site and its acceptability in the area, the planning officer informed the 
committee that no objections had been raised locally and the type of use was acceptable 
for the particular location. The committee was also advised that planning policy DQS1 
referred to ‘all new development’ and the planning officer considered this application as 
being a new development which could fall under that policy. 
 
The committee asked for clarification for the materials of the roof and windows. The 
response from the planning officer was that the roof was made from perspex, but he did 
not have information regarding the window material. In response to this, the committee 
noted a concern on the safety of the unit for children due to the material trapping heat 
which could lead to a dangerous temperature for children in summer periods. Following a 
supplementary question on shading around the proposed unit, the planning officer added 
that the site faced southwards and there was currently a large tree which cast shade 
during the day, however it was mentioned that this tree could not be guaranteed for 
permanent retention. Finally, the committee sought clarification on whether any response 
had been received from house number 44 from the consultation regarding the application. 
The planning officer confirmed that they had been consulted, but they had not provided 
any comments in response. 
 
A motion moved and seconded, to refuse planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED: to refuse planning permission for application P20/S2504/FUL due to: 

1. Concerns on materials and the size of the outbuilding and the impact to the 

character of the area. 

2. Harm to the amenity of the neighbouring resident (Number 44). 

3. Loss of the whole garden, and the diminishing quality of the living environment for 

house number 46. 

 

9 P21/S4522/FUL - Land Adjacent to 23 Haywards Close, Henley on 
Thames  
 
The committee considered application P21/S4522 FUL for the erection of 4-bedroom 
detached dwelling (site location plan corrected, and biodiversity information submitted 20th 
February 2022 and updated energy statement and specification received 6th May 2022) 
on Land Adjacent to 23 Haywards Close, Henley on Thames. 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting. 
 

Page 7



 4 

The committee was provided with the history of the site, and an explanation that the 
previous planning permission that had been granted in 2011 had lapsed. The planning 
officer provided the context of the site, informing the committee that the proposed 
development was acceptable when assessed against the local plans. The concerns that 
had been raised had all be deemed acceptable with mitigations through the proposed 
conditions. The level of separation to the adjoining dwellings also meant that the 
application complied with local planning policy DES6, with the outdoor amenity space 
complying with local planning policy DES5 and the design guide. The planning officer 
confirmed that there were also no objections from the highways officer. In relation to the 
public footpath, the committee were advised that a public path order had been made in 
August 2013 and whilst this was related to the previous application, the current application 
was identical to the previous permission, so that the proposed route still complied with this 
order and could be therefore certified. The planning officer confirmed that it is a condition 
of the public path order that the alternative footpath has to be constructed before the 
existing one was removed. The planning officer concluded by confirming that subject to 
conditions, the planning application was recommended for approval. 
 
Councillor Ken Arlett, a representative of Henley-on-Thames Town Council, spoke in 
objection to the application. 
 
Chris Keen and Caryn Meyer, the planning consultants, spoke in support of the 
application. 
 
Louise Dodd, a local resident, spoke in objection to the application. 
 
Chris Keen and Caryn Meyer, the applicant and the agent respectively, spoke in support of 
the application. The committee asked the speakers about their intentions for the trees 
located towards the site boundary. The speakers confirmed that the trees would be 
retained as currently seen. 
 
The committee asked whether any provision could be made for bicycle access on the 
existing steps by providing a ramp or other bicycle - friendly route. The planning officer 
explained that the route had already been established and was too steep for such a 
treatment and that the crime prevention design officer had not requested such changes, 
and therefore this could not be insisted upon as a condition at this stage of the application. 
 
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P21/S4522/FUL subject to the 
following conditions: 

1. Commencement of development with three years. 

2. Development to be in accordance with the approved plans 

3. No change in levels 

4. Schedule of Materials to be agreed 

5. Obscure glazing to bathroom window 

6. Withdrawal of permitted development (Part 2 Class A) – no walls, fences etc.) 

7. Withdrawal of permitted development (extensions/outbuildings/hardstandings) 

8. Energy Statement verification to be provided prior to occupation 

9. Parking and Manoeuvring Areas retained in accordance with the approved plans 

10. No Garage conversion into accommodation 

11. Landscaping details (including hardstandings) to be agreed 

12. Tree protection to be implemented in accordance with the submitted details 
Page 8



 5 

13. Boundary walls and fences to be agreed 

14. Ecological Mitigation and Enhancement Strategy to be agreed 

15. Biodiversity Offsetting details to be agreed 

16. Contaminated Land investigation details to be agreed 

17. Cessation of development if unsuspected contamination is found 

18. Contaminated and investigation details to be agreed 

19. External Lighting details to be agreed 

20. Electric Vehicles Charging Point to be provided 

21. Surface Water Drainage details to be agreed 

22. Foul Water Drainage details to be agreed 

 

10 P21/S0666/FUL - Southernwood, 70-72 Park Road, Didcot  
 
The committee considered application P21/S0666/FUL for the removal of lettable cabins; 
erection of two new dwellings with associated parking, secure and covered bicycle 
storage, refuse and recycling storage and private amenity space (as amended plans to 
change size and design of dwellings received 9 March 2022 and 27 April 2022) at 
Southernwood, 70-72 Park Road, Didcot. 

 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting. 
 
The planning officer introduced the application and confirmed that it had been referred to 
the planning committee as the planning officer’s recommendation conflicted with the views 
of Didcot Town Council. The site formed part of an existing bed and breakfast business 
and the planning officer provided the geographical layout of the existing structures and 
their location on the application site. The new proposed dwellings would be set within 
spacious plots with private amenity space above the design guide requirements. The 
nearest existing dwellings were in the northwest and were sixty-seven metres away from 
the location of the proposed new dwellings. The planning officer confirmed that each 
property would have three car parking spaces available. In respect of design, the 
properties would be constructed using red bricks and would have a contemporary 
appearance. The officer concluded that the potential benefits of the application outweighed 
any harm, and so subject to conditions, the application was recommended for approval. 
 
Councillor Eleanor Hards, representative of Didcot Town Council, spoke in objection to the 
application. 
 
Sandra Airey, local resident, spoke in objection to the application. In response to a 
question from the committee on the current layout of the site, the speaker responded by 
stating that the site currently had more outbuildings than stated in the report, and the 
cabins were all inter-connected. 
 
A statement by Ms. Sophie Holmes, a local resident, had been sent to the committee prior 
to the meeting by the democratic services officer. 
 
In response to a question on the amount of amenity space that would be available if the 
application was approved and constructed, the planning officer responded that the 
dwellings would have 221sqm and 220sqm for the first and second dwellings respectively. 
The committee also asked whether the new build properties would include garages. The 
planning officer confirmed that the new-build properties did not have any garages, but did 
have pre-allocated parking spaces and the site met the parking standard requirements. A 

Page 9



 6 

second question followed, seeking clarification on construction vehicle access and the 
perception that this would be tight for access by vehicles. The planning officer responded 
that Oxfordshire County Council’s highways officer had not highlighted a concern 
regarding this matter. 
 
A motion moved and seconded, to defer the application was declared carried on being put 
to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED: to defer application P21/S0666/FUL and for a site visit to take place. 
 

11 P22/S1039/FUL - 13 Leyshon Road, Wheatley  
 
The committee considered application P22/S1039/FUL for the erection of two storey side 
and rear extension. Subsequent subdivision to provide new two storey two bed dwelling. 
Provision of private amenity space with off street parking, utilising widened existing 
highway access to Leyshon Road. Provision of enclosed bin and bike stores. As amended 
by plan ref 21- 014-P-001 B which shows a set back and includes bat and bird box, at 13 
Leyshon Road, Wheatley. 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting. 
 
The planning officer explained that the application had been referred to the committee due 
to the recommendation differing from the local parish council, who objected to the 
application. Wheatley Parish Council had been concerned with the application not keeping 
to the character to the area, the site constituting overdevelopment, a lack of suitable 
parking, and being unneighbourly to the surrounding properties. The planning officer, 
alongside addressing these concerns, highlighted that there had been no objection from 
the highway authority. It was also noted that the site was in close proximity to a bus stop, 
which enabled good access to other towns and villages. Additionally, as it was in a built-up 
residential area, the traffic speed limit was low and therefore of minimal danger to public 
safety. The planning officer concluded by reminding the committee that government advice 
remained that a refusal on transport grounds should only be considered if the cumulative 
impact was severe. Subject to the officer’s recommendations, the application was 
recommended for approval. 
 
Councillor Alexandrine Kantor, local ward member, spoke to the application. 
 
The committee asked the planning officer questions regarding the plan and elevation, and 
requested clarification on whether the extension had access to the back garden. The 
planning officer stated that it was unlikely that there was access to the rear for property 13, 
which was the host dwelling. 
 
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for applicationP22/S1039/FUL subject to the 
following conditions: 

1. Commencement three years – Full Planning Permission 

2. Approved plans 

3. Matching materials (walls and roof) 

4. New vehicular access 

5. Vision splay protection 
Page 10



 7 

6. Parking and Manoeuvring Areas Retained 

7. Energy Statement Verification 

8. Electric Vehicles Charging Point (implementation) 

 

12 P22/S0519/FUL - Bayswater Farm, Bayswater Farm Road, near 
Sandhills  
 
The committee considered application P22/S0519/FUL for the erection of two apartments 
accessed from Bayswater Farm Road (as amended and amplified by revised site plan and 
vehicle swept path analysis and letter from Glanvilles received 24 March 2022, SAP 
calculations submitted on the 5 April 2022 and amended by site plan received 21 April 
2022) at Bayswater Farm, Bayswater Farm Road, near Sandhills. 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting. 
 
The planning officer informed the committee of a correction to the report, advising that the 
site was close to the green belt, but was not located within it. The committee was therefore 
informed that paragraphs 6.10-6.15 could be disregarded for the purposes of making a 
decision on this application. The planning officer reassured the committee that this 
alteration had no impact to the recommendation, with the application having been referred 
to the planning committee, as the recommendation conflicted with the view of the local 
parish council. 
 
The planning officer explained that the site was not within an identified settlement within 
South Oxfordshire, and as a result could disregard conflict with local plan and housing 
policies, as there were material considerations which justified a departure. Thus, the site 
was located in an area that was attached to the built form of the Barton Estate and the 
location was sufficient justification to set aside the conflict with policy. The surrounding 
buildings were a mixture of styles, and the development would add beneficially to the local 
appearance. 
 
The planning officer reported that the plans had been amended to provide sufficient vision 
for vehicle access and the amenity area was proportioned out to a more acceptable level. 
The height of the building in conjunction with the distance from the boundaries was such 
that there was not considered to be a materially harmful neighbourly impact, and the 
application was seen as being in accordance with the local plan. The planning officer 
concluded that subject to conditions, the application was recommended for approval. 
 
Luca Perletta, local resident, spoke in objection to the application. 
 
Nicky Brock and Tom Kennedy, the agent and the applicant respectively, spoke in support 
of the application. The committee asked whether the developers were considering the 
installation of air source heat pumps, and whether a verbal commitment could be given to 
their incorporation into the application. The speakers responded that they had already 
chosen an air source heat pump, and this would go into the design of the proposed 
application. 
 
Councillor Tim Bearder, local ward member, spoke in support of the application. 
 
The committee expressed concern with the site’s minimum size standard being two square 
metres below the minimum requirements which could lead to cramping. The planning 

Page 11



 8 

officer accepted this concern but responded that for a previous appeal for a similar 
application, the planning inspector took the view that it was not justifiable to refuse an 
application on this ground if all the other aspects were acceptable. 
 
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 
 
 
RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P22/S0519/FUL subject to the 
following conditions: 
Standard conditions  

1. Commencement three years – Full Planning Permission 

2. Approved Plans 

Prior to construction above slab level conditions 
3. Schedule of Materials 

4. Surface water drainage 

5. Wildlife Protection (mitigation as approved) 

Prior to occupation conditions 
6. Parking and Manoeuvring Areas Retained 

7. Energy Statement Verification 

8. Electric Vehicles Charing Point (implementation) 

9. Tree protection (implementation as approved) 

 
 
 
 
The meeting closed at 8.08 pm 
 
 
 
Chair Date 

 

 
 

Page 12



 1 

Minutes 
OF A MEETING OF THE 
 

 

Planning Committee 
 
HELD ON WEDNESDAY 29 JUNE 2022 AT 6.00 PM 
FIRST FLOOR MEETING SPACE, 135 EASTERN AVENUE, MILTON PARK, 
OX14 4SB 
 

 

Present in the meeting room: 
Councillors: David Bretherton (Chair), Peter Dragonetti (Vice-Chair), Ken Arlett, Tim 
Bearder, Elizabeth Gillespie, Victoria Haval, Lorraine Hillier, Axel MacDonald, Ian 
Snowdon, and Alan Thompson 
Officers: Michael Flowers (Democratic Services Officer) and Paula Fox (Development 
Manager) 
 

Remote attendance:  
Councillors: Alexandrine Kantor and Jo Robb 
Officers: Samantha Allen (Senior Conservation Officer), Sharon Crawford (Team Leader – 
Planning West), Andy Heron (Planning Officer), Susie Royce (Broadcasting Officer), 
Cathie Scotting (Major Applications Team Leader), and Tom Wyatt (Team Leader – 
Applications East) 
 

13 Chair's announcements  
 
The chair welcomed everyone to the meeting, outlined the procedure to be followed at an 
in-person meeting which was being simultaneously broadcast and advised on emergency 
evacuation arrangements. 
 

14 Apologies for absence  
 
Councillor Sam-Casey Rerhaye tendered apologies. Jo Robb, as substitute, attended the 
meeting remotely. 
 

15 Minutes of the previous meeting  
 
RESOLVED: to approve the minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday 27 April 2022 as 
a correct record and agree that the Chair sign these as such. 
 

16 Declarations of interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

17 Urgent business  
 
There was no urgent business. 
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 3



 2 

18 Proposals for site visits  
 
The committee requested a site visit for item 12 on the agenda – application 
P22/S0584/FUL. 
 
RESOLVED: to agree a site visit for application P22/S0584/FUL and for the application to 
be deferred from the meeting until such a visit had taken place. 
 

19 Public participation  
 
The list showing members of the public who had registered to speak was tabled at the 
meeting. 
 

20 P21/S0343/FUL - Belmond Le Manoir aux Quat'Saisons, Church 
Road, Great Milton  
 
The committee considered application P21/S0343/FUL for full planning permission for the 
erection of a new Wellness Spa, Bistro, Garden Villas, Garden Rooms, Pavilions and 
Storage Barns, minor extensions and alterations to the existing Grade II* Manor House, 
former Stables building and Staff Facilities building, new highway access, internal road 
and car parking areas, limited demolition and associated works (amended plans and 
information September 2021, Archaeological Evaluation Report October 2021 and 
Amended plans and additional information April and June 2022). 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting. 
 
The planning officer provided the context of the site and explained that this was referred to 
the planning committee due to the size of the scheme and its departure from greenbelt 
policy. If the application was approved, it would then be referred to the Secretary of State 
to issue a direction to identify whether they wish to determine the application themselves. 
The proposal was over 4000 square metres in floor area and the scheme was designed to 
provide an upgrade to the hotel and Michelin star restaurant.  
 
The planning officer then provided the detail of existing and proposed buildings on the site 
masterplan and also highlighted the two new car parking areas. The employee number 
would go from 176 to 259 and the parking spaces would increase by 160 spaces to a total 
of 250 parking spaces. The planning officer then explained that the replacement 
conservatory would extend beyond the existing conservatory. With reference to the bistro, 
the roof would be clay tiled with the walls clad in green oak. The presidential villa would 
have Cotswold rubble stone as elevations, as would other buildings with a mixture of clay 
tiled roofs and flat sedum-roofs.  Within the envelope of the manor house gardens, officers 
were not concerned with the proposed development. Whilst the application conflicted with 
policy regarding the greenbelt, there was not considered to be material harm to the 
openness of the landscape and green belt. 
 
The planning officer then discussed the outer-field, and advised that parking would be 
valeted, and solar canopies would be located in the visitor parking area. The planning 
officer illustrated the public footpath and its location on the field. The committee were given 
an update that neighbouring residents were concerned about the water flows from the site 
and the potential impact on surface water flooding and biodiversity on nearby areas. The 
planning officer confirmed that an extra requirement was proposed for the drainage 
condition which would require a water management plan to address the release of water 

Page 14



 3 

off-site. A letter of support from the local public bus company was also highlighted in 
favour of the application, and the officer identified terms for the Section 106 agreement in 
relation to the subsidy for the local bus service. Officers had requested a continuation of 
the bus subsidy for five years with a review built in after 3 years and the 3 year period to 
include 2 years post completion. The County Council had advised that the subsidy should 
be £175,000 index linked per annum.  The planning officer stated that very special 
circumstances needed to justify the departure from greenbelt policy and in relation to the 
harm to heritage assets, the public benefits needed to be substantial. The officer explained 
that these principally concern the economic benefits, the gain to biodiversity, the 
improvements to the sustainability of the existing buildings and an elevated target for the 
proposed buildings and the public bus subsidy.  In summarising the application, the 
planning officer confirmed that in their view, the application was considered to be 
acceptable, and subject to conditions and the referral to the secretary of state, the 
application was recommended for approval. 
 
Steve Harrod, representative of Great Milton Parish Council, spoke in favour of the 
application. The committee asked the speaker whether he was speaking as a 
representative of the parish or expressing his own views towards the application as an 
induvial. The speaker confirmed that he was a chairman of the parish council but was 
speaking to express his own view. The speaker confirmed that the parish did not have a 
full agreement on their stance towards the proposed development. 
 
Gwen Harris and Emma Treanor, local residents, spoke in objection to the application. 
 
Sarah Moorhouse and Raymond Blanc, the agent and the applicant respectively, spoke in 
support of the application. The committee asked Raymond Blanc how he would be 
involved in the site going forwards, to which Mr Blanc confirmed that he would continue in 
his current role for two years before changing to a directorate role overseeing the 
commercial business. The speakers also responded to questions relating to employment 
and local bus services, confirming that most of the staff lived locally, and that the bus 
service was subsidised to provide late night public transport from 6am-1am. The 
committee then asked the speakers on why the parking area was three times the 
requirement. The speakers responded that there was an existing overflow in parking 
spaces, and that the application sought to both remedy existing parking issues and provide 
appropriate parking spaces that would reflect the increased demand that the application 
would bring from customers. The speaker then responded to an additional question asking 
if the cookery school was being relocated or closed. The speaker confirmed that they 
would be having an academy in place, but that this academy would be spread out across 
the site and would not be in one single confined location. 
 
The committee asked the planning officer for clarification on Historic England’s stance on 
the application due to the reservations they had expressed. The planning officer 
responded that correspondence with Historic England confirmed that the amended 
application, which had a low level of harm, was deemed acceptable by the organisation. A 
second question to the planning officer sought confirmation on the car park and its location 
near the existing footpath, and on screening. The planning officer responded to these 
questions by confirming that the footpath ran along the tree belt, and that screening was 
proposed to obscure the car park, which would be covered through conditions. In response 
to other questions from the committee, the planning officer clarified that the replacement 
conservatory would extend further south than the original plans. In addition, no material 
harm was expected with reference to the openness of the green belt in this part of the site, 
but it was accepted that the development had led to a demand for works within the open 
fields. The car parking was confirmed as being valeted and some of the visitor parking 

Page 15



 4 

area would feature solar canopies to contribute to green energy production to meet the 
requirements of policy, and these would be of a maximum height of 2.5 metres. 
 
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. In accordance with the constitution of the council, the committee had 
agreed that the vote for this application item be subject to a recorded vote. 
 

Ken Arlett For 

Tim Bearder Abstain 

David Bretherton For 

Peter Dragonetti Against 

Elizabeth Gillespie Against 

Victoria Haval Against 

Lorraine Hillier For 

Axel Macdonald For 

Ian Snowdon For 

Alan Thompson Against 

 
RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for applicationP21/S0343/FUL subject to: 

1. The completion of a S106 agreement for the infrastructure identified in the report 

and the following Conditions, the final drafting of which to be agreed for consistency 

under the delegated powers of the Chairman of Planning Committee and the Head 

of Planning, and 

2. Confirmation from the Secretary of State that they do not intend to issue a direction 

under section 77 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and the Town and 

Country Planning (Consultation) (England) (Direction) 2021 

Conditions 
1. Commencement three years – Full Planning Permission 

2. Approved plans 

3. Phasing 

4. Archaeology WSI 

5. Archaeology Mitigation and Recording 

6. Tree Protection (Detailed) 

7. Construction and Traffic Management Plans 

8. Levels (details required) 

9. Unsuspected Contaminated Land Condition 

10. New Vehicular Access 

11. Sample materials required (all) 

12. Details Conservatory 

13. Details Presidential Suite 

14. BREEAM Outstanding and Excellent Ratings 

15. Energy Statement – Details Required 

16. Energy Statement Verification 

17. Ecology and Wildlife Protection 

18. Landscape Environment Management Plan 

19. Landscaping Scheme 

20. Landscaping Management Plan 

21. Removal of PD rights for fencing and enclosures 

22. Lighting Strategy and Details 

23. Green Travel Plan 

24. Turning Area & Car Parking 
Page 16



 5 

25. Cycle Parking Facilities 

26. Electric Vehicle Charging Points (details required) 

27. Noise Assessment (external noise & plant equipment) 

28. SUDs Scheme Surface Water 

29. Surface Water Drainage 

30. Foul Water Network Upgrade 

31. Foul Drainage details 

32. Hours of operation 

 

21 P21/S0428/LB - Le Manoir Aux Quat'Saisons, Church Road, Great 
Milton  
 
The committee considered application P21/S0438/FUL for listed building consent for 
internal and external alterations and minor extensions, repair and refurbishment works to 
the Grade II* Manor House (amended plans September 2021 and amended plans and 
information received April and June 2022). 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting. 
 
The planning officer explained that the Grade II Manor House was dated from the 15th 
century and had undergone development over the course of its existence. The principal 
works on this application were to the manor house with a replacement to the conservatory, 
and the relocation of an Edwardian period window. The new window would be altered from 
a three bay window to a five bay window. The planning officer continued and, in the 
presentation, highlighted the planned location of the first floor dormer extension, and 
where the conservatory building would be located. The committee were also informed of a 
condition which would require details of the conservatory to be submitted to the planning 
authority. A further condition was also proposed for the submission of a report to record 
the opening up of the building and works of alteration to be submitted for the archive. 
Subject to amendments and conditions, Historic England evaluated the harm to be of low 
concern. Therefore, the planning officer confirmed that subject to conditions, the listed 
building consent was recommended for approval. 
 
Jeremy Blake, the agent, spoke in support of the application. 
 
The committee asked the planning officer whether the record of the works would be both 
photographic and in writing. The planning officer confirmed this would be the case. 
 
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission including the additional 
condition was declared carried on being put to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED: to grant listed building consent to application P21/S0428/LB subject to the 
Secretary of State confirming that they do not intend to issue a direction on application 
P21/S0343/FUL and the following conditions: 
 
Conditions: 

1. Commencement three years – Listed Building Consent 

2. Approved Drawings and Documents 

3. Details of Manor House Conservatory 

4. Samples of Materials for Listed Buildings 

5. Record of works 
Page 17



 6 

 

22 P22/S0713/FUL - 15 Elton Crescent, Wheatley  
 
The committee considered application P22/S0713/FUL for the proposed demolition of 
existing garage and conservatory, part single, part two storey rear extension and 
alterations to the existing dwelling, subdivision and erection of new dwelling and 
alterations to the vehicular access and parking (amended plans received 15 April 2022 to 
reduce depth of rear extension, and to extend red line area to enable visibility splays for 
access). 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting. 
 
The planning officer explained that the application was referred to the committee due to an 
objection from Wheatley Parish Council, due to concerns over the appearance of the area, 
car parking, highway safety, and the impact on the neighbouring property due to a loss of 
light. The planning officer then provided the background to the site, explaining that it was 
an ex-council estate from the 1950’s and had been brought to the committee due to an 
objection from Wheatley Parish Council over the character and appearance of the area, 
car parking and highway safety, and the impact on neighbouring amenity in terms of loss 
of light. The planning officer then added that over time, most of the surrounding properties 
had taken two storey side extensions and in the view of officers, this had changed the 
character of the area.  
 
Addressing the application site and the proposed development, the committee were told 
that the single storey extension to the rear of the site would not go beyond the depth of the 
existing conservatory. Additionally, the footprint of the application would extend 
northwards, but would not cause a harmful impact on neighbouring properties in relation to 
a loss of light. For the side facing windows, the committee were told the window would be 
obscured glazing so as to respect the privacy of neighbouring residents. The planning 
officer also confirmed that a condition was added that would remove permitted 
development rights which would protect any further impact on neighbouring amenity. As 
the benefit of the application was considered to outweigh the harm, the planning officer 
recommended the application for approval, subject to conditions. 
 
Mark Flanagan, a local resident, spoke in objection to the application. The committee 
asked the speaker for clarification on his verbal statement on whether preliminary work 
had begun at the application site. The speaker responded that the applicant had already 
split the garden and put a fence up, with work taking place up to around 10pm at night. An 
additional question from the committee was raised to the speaker to clarify their view on 
the extensions and whether they were in character with the area. The speaker answered 
that in their opinion, the character of the area would be harmed by the application, as it 
contrasted in appearance to existing buildings and other approved extensions. 
 
Councillor Alexandrine Kantor, local ward member, spoke on the application. 
 
The committee asked the planning officer how a semi-detached house would improve the 
area, to which the response was that other developments from approved applications in 
the area were used comparatively, and the planning officers considered the development 
to be an overall improvement compared to the existing arrangements. A second question 
was asked on how drainage would be managed to which the planning officer responded 
that a condition had been added to require details of drainage proposals, and also it was 

Page 18



 7 

noted that the site was not within a critical drainage area, and no objections had been 
raised by the relevant officers. 
 
The committee sought clarification on vehicle access and parking due to concerns on 
insufficient space for larger vehicles should the application be approved. The planning 
officer responded that whilst they recognised there was some existing issues with road 
usage in the area, it was compliant with the standards set by Oxfordshire County Council 
and therefore the committee needed to consider that an objection from road access issues 
would be difficult. 
 
A motion moved and seconded, to refuse planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED: to refuse planning permission to application P22/S0713/FUL due to the harm 
to the character of the area and amenities of the neighbour. 
 

23 P22/S0332/FUL - 2 Stonehouse Cottages, Highmoor Cross  
 
Councillors Tim Bearder and Ian Snowdon left the meeting before the item was 
considered. 
 
The committee considered application P22/S0332/FUL for a variation of condition 2 
(Approved plans) on planning application P21/S1647/FUL to vary the style of the external 
appearance (two storey side extension, demolition of existing garage and erection of a 
new two storey house and associated parking). 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting. 
 
The planning officer confirmed that planning permission was granted by the planning 
committee in the previous year for a two-storey extension to the existing dwelling and for a 
new detached dwelling. The new proposal sought to vary the existing approved plans for 
the detached dwelling. The only difference for the proposal related to its external 
appearance. The cladding was proposed for natural vertical timber with slate roofing. 
Whilst the site was located in an Area of Outstanding Beauty, it was within a built-up 
settlement. As the site was a post-war site and architecturally unremarkable, planning 
officers were not satisfied that a different style would cause harm. Subject to conditions, 
the application was therefore recommended for approval. 
 
Selena Craig, the applicant, spoke in support of the application. The committee asked the 
speaker whether the material was wood or plastic imitation wood to which the speaker 
confirmed it would be natural wood. A second question from the speaker sought 
confirmation on the impact of water impact on the face of the building based on the design. 
The speaker explained that they had used their architect for the design but could not 
directly answer the query at the meeting. The speaker was asked by the committee 
whether the vertical cladding was natural timber or black. The speaker responded that the 
wood was painted black to fit the style of the village. 
 
Jo Robb, the local ward member, spoke in objection to the application. 
 
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 
 

Page 19



 8 

RESOLVED: to grant planning permission to application P22/S0332/FUL subject to the 
following conditions: 

1. Development in accordance with approved plans 

2. Development in accordance with specific materials 

3. Carbon reduction energy efficiency measures to be implemented 

4. Proposed access to be provided prior to occupation and existing access to be 

stopped up 

5. Vision splays to be provided and maintained 

6. Parking and turning areas to be provided prior to occupation 

7. Landscaping details to be provided in accordance with approved details prior to 

occupation 

8. Tree protection to be in accordance with approved details 

9. Bird and bat boxes to be installed prior to occupation 

10. Surface water drainage to be provided in accordance with approved details prior to 

occupation 

11. Foul water drainage to be provided in accordance with approved details prior to 

occupation 

12. Electric vehicle charging point to be provided prior to occupation 

 

24 P22/S0584/FUL - Land to the south of Well Place Road, Ipsden  
 
Application P22/S0584/FUL was deferred to enable a site visit to take place. 
 

25 P22/S1434/FUL - Land to the rear of 5 Lydalls Close, Didcot  
 
Councillor Jo Robb left the meeting before the item was considered. 
 
The committee considered application P22/S1434/FUL for the erection of a new bungalow. 
As clarified by Agent's emails received on 9 May and 7 June 2022 regarding access. 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting. 
 
The planning officer explained that the application had been referred to the committee as 
the applicant was related to Councillor Jane Murphy. The site was located near a care 
home which was to the west of the site and flats for the elderly to the south of the site. The 
application site was otherwise surrounded by residential dwellings. The site would include 
two parking spaces and a private garden area. The site was previously occupied by a 
repair service for agricultural vehicles and the principle of residential development was 
considered acceptable. The neighbour impact and design were found to be acceptable, 
and the parking and garden size were compliant with the standards. There were no 
objections and subject to conditions, the planning application was recommended for 
approval. 
Alan Thompson, the local ward member, spoke in support of the application. 
 
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED: to grant planning permission to application P22/S1434/FUL subject to the 
following conditions: 

1. Commencement three years – Full Planning Permission 

2. Approved plans 
Page 20



 9 

Pre Commencement Conditions 
3. Surface Water Drainage 

4. Tree Protection 

Compliance Conditions 
5. Energy statement verification 

6. Electric Vehicle Charging Point 

7. Provide bird box 

8. Retain hedges (biodiversity) 

 
 
 
The meeting closed at 8.46 pm 
 
 
 
Chair Date 

 

 
 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

Minutes 
OF A MEETING OF THE 
 

 

Planning Committee 
 
HELD ON WEDNESDAY 20 JULY 2022 AT 6.00 PM 
FIRST FLOOR MEETING SPACE, 135 EASTERN AVENUE, MILTON PARK, 
OX14 4SB 
 

 

Present in the meeting room: 
Councillors: David Bretherton (Chair), Ken Arlett, Sam Casey-Rerhaye, Elizabeth 
Gillespie, Victoria Haval, Lorraine Hillier, Alexandrine Kantor, Axel MacDonald, and Jo 
Robb 
Officers: Michael Flowers (Democratic Services Officer) and Paula Fox (Development 
Manager) 
 

Remote attendance:  
Councillors: Anne-Marie Simpson 
Officers: Paul Bowers (Senior Planning Officer), Sharon Crawford (Team Leader – 
Applications West), Andy Heron (Planning and Development Officer), and Marc Pullen 
(Planning and Development Officer) 
 

26 Chair's announcements  
 
The chair welcomed everyone to the meeting, outlined the procedure to be followed at an 
in-person meeting which was being simultaneously broadcast and advised on emergency 
evacuation arrangements. 
 

27 Apologies for absence  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Tim Bearder and Peter Dragonetti. 
Councillors Alexandrine Kantor and Jo Robb attended as substitutes respectively. 
 

28 Declarations of interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

29 Urgent business  
 
There was no urgent business. 
 

30 Proposals for site visits  
 
The committee requested a site visit for application P22/S1297/FUL. 
 
RESOLVED: to agree a site visit for application P22/S1297/FUL – Stow House, Thames 
Road, Goring.  

Page 23

Agenda Item 3



 2 

 

31 Public participation  
 
The list showing members of the public who had registered to speak was tabled at the 
meeting. 
 

32 P21/S0666/FUL - Southernwood 70-72 Park Road, Didcot  
 
The committee considered application P21/S0666/FUL for the removal of lettable cabins; 
erection of two new dwellings with associated parking, secure and covered bicycle 
storage, refuse and recycling storage and private amenity space. (as amended plans to 
change size and design of dwellings received 9 March 2022 and 27 April 2022). 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting. 
 
The planning officer introduced the report, and explained that the application was 
previously considered at the committee meeting on 8 June 2022, and was deferred for a 
site visit which was conducted on 18 July 2022. The planning officer confirmed that their 
recommendation continued to be for approval, but that they proposed an additional 
condition for the cabins to be removed prior to the occupation of the proposed dwellings. 
 
The application was referred to the committee due to the objection from Didcot Town 
Council who held concerns on the size of the dwellings and the impact on neighbouring 
amenities. In addition, seven neighbouring objection letters were received during the 
consultation, with a further two being received in the second consultation. The main 
concerns were on the impact to the character of the area, loss in privacy, and 
overdevelopment. The current site had six cabins as part of a bed and breakfast, and the 
proposal would remove the lettable cabins and put two new dwellings on the site with the 
other proposed aspects of the application. The dwellings would be constructed with red 
brick and with a varied roof structure to reduce scaling. Following the end of the 
presentation and background information, the officer confirmed that the application was 
recommended for approval subject to the recommended conditions. 
 
Mr Phil Larrs, a local resident, spoke in objection to the application. 
 
The committee asked if the site met the minimum requirements of amenity space and 
distances from habitable rooms from adjoining properties, to which the planning officer 
confirmed it did meet the minimum requirements. A second question followed seeking 
clarification from the planning officer on how they would describe the character of the area 
and the surrounding landscape. The planning officer clarified their descriptive view and 
stated that the view from Park Road from the front was predominantly bungalows, but the 
rear of the site featured semi-detached two-storey dwellings. 
 
The planning officer was asked on whether the height of the proposed buildings would be 
higher than the studio, and if so, how much higher would the proposed buildings be. The 
planning officer responded the studio would be 200 millimetres smaller than the application 
buildings. Following this, the committee were shown images of the design of the building 
following a request for more clarity on what the buildings would look like. It was confirmed 
that the buildings were uniformed in design. 
 

Page 24



 3 

The committee asked whether access to rubbish bins and their collection would be 
impacted, to which the planning officer confirmed there were no known issues with bin 
access related to the application. 
 
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED: to grant planning permission to application P22/S0666/FUL subject to the 
following conditions: 

1. Commencement three years – Full Planning Permission 

2. Approved plans 

3. Sample materials 

4. Surface water drainage 

5. Foul water drainage 

6. Parking and turning 

7. Landscaping 

8. Tree protection 

9. Energy statement verification 

10. Electric vehicle charging points 

11. Hours of operation – construction/demolition 

12. Removal of lettable cabins prior to occupation 

 

33 P22/S0584/FUL - Land to the south of Well Place Road, Ipsden  
 
The committee considered application P22/S0584/FUL for a proposed agricultural barn (as 
amended by plan received 14 April 2022 to reposition the building further from the 
protected trees). 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting. 
 
The planning officer introduced the report and explained that the application had been 
referred to the committee following a call-in from the local ward member, due to concerns 
on its location within the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. The planning 
officer also confirmed that the application had been deferred at the previous meeting of the 
planning committee to enable a site visit to take place. The application lied within a rural 
area and was in a grass field that bordered Well Place Road. In addition, the site plan 
showed an area of hardstanding, and while this was not in the committee report, it was 
within the site plan. The committee were then informed that the site was visually 
prominent, but the barn would be located at the bottom of the valley, but that planning 
officers considered the proposed development as keeping in character of the landscape, 
and was also modest in size and height. In addition, the application was considered 
proportionate to the site. The planning officer also confirmed in relation to planning 
conditions, that tree protection measures would be required in writing, and external lighting 
would need to also be agreed by officers. The committee were also given confirmation that 
for condition four, details would need to be submitted in writing. The planning officer 
concluded and confirmed that subject to conditions, the application was recommended for 
approval. 
 
Mr Robert Booth, a local resident, spoke in objection to the application. The committee 
asked the speaker where the local residents who had objected to the application resided, 

Page 25



 4 

to which the speaker explained that these objectors were spread out across the 
neighbouring area, but that all of these residents could be considered local to the 
application site. 
 
Mr Peter Holtom and Mr Nick Turner, the applicant and the architect respectively, spoke in 
support of the application. The applicant was asked about their relationship to the site and 
were queried on the current ownership of the land. The speaker explained that the land 
was currently owned by their godfather and was in the process of being transferred to the 
applicant, but that this paperwork was currently being processed. Following a 
supplementary question on current animal ownership, the applicant confirmed he had 100 
sheep and ewes, with one batch being in Checkendon and the other in Benson. The 
applicant however explained that they did not own the land in Benson, and so they were 
applying for land they would be in ownership of. The applicant also informed the 
committee following a request for clarification, that they also had the support of the tenant 
nearby whose land they had used.  
 
Councillors Lorraine Hillier and Jo Robb, local ward member, spoke to the application. 
 
The planning officer clarified to the committee that as the site was under five hectares of 
land, that they were not entitled to permitted development rights, and only those of five 
hectares or more would be able to use permitted development rights for a similar type of 
development.  
 
The committee asked the planning officer if they were aware of the regulatory standards of 
spacing in relation to animal welfare and the usage of the building for animal storage. The 
planning officer responded that they did not know the spacing requirements for animals, 
but the application was not solely related to animals, and the application was not being 
proposed as a site for the specific storage of animals. In response to a supplementary 
question, the planning officer also confirmed that any breach of animal welfare standards 
was a separate matter to the planning permission, and so there would be no negative 
impact on the planning authority in that aspect. 
 
The committee asked if a condition could be required to specify livestock farming solely. 
The team leader – applications west, explained that the condition proposed covered a 
limited range of activities, but that a condition could be worded to require the barn be used 
for specified purposes as the applicant had proposed in their application. The committee 
then asked whether drainage conditions would be required due to the animals that would 
go into the building. The planning officer responded that based on the application that had 
been submitted, a specific condition on drainage would not be a requirement. 
 
The committee asked if there was a way to specifically tie the application to agricultural 
use only, to reduce the risk of the building being changed for use at a later date. The 
planning officer responded that the wording already given in the condition would be 
appropriate in ensuring the use that had been applied for. The committee then expressed 
concern on the lack of a threshold on the number of machineries in storage before a 
breach of planning conditions may occur due to a differential of use compared to what had 
been applied for. The planning officer addressed this concern and stated that there was no 
limit that could be imposed on machinery, but they could make the condition related to the 
specified use that was stated in the application. In response to an additional query from 
the committee, the planning officer also clarified that based on the comments raised by the 
committee during the agenda item, that it would be reasonable to require the details of the 
surface water drainage and for these to be agreed by the planning officers. 
 

Page 26



 5 

A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED: to grant planning permission to application P22/S0584/FUL subject to the 
following conditions: 

1. Commencement of development within three years 

2. Approved plans 

3. Materials as on plan and for the agricultural barn to be constructed using dark 

timber materials 

4. Landscaping to be submitted and agreed 

5. Tree protection measures 

6. Improvement of existing vehicular access 

7. Gate to be set back from highway 

8. Details of any external lighting to be agreed 

9. Agricultural use only and as specified in the planning application 

10. Surface water drainage – to be agreed with planning officers 

 

34 P22/S1297/FUL - Land at The Byre Mackney Lane, Brightwell cum 
Sotwell  
 
The committee considered application P22/S1297/FUL for the erection of an agricultural 
building and associated works (As amplified by email and accompanying information 
received 26 May 202 and amended by revised floor plan). 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting. 
 
The planning officer introduced the report and explained that the application was brought 
to the committee due to the objection from the local parish council. The application site sat 
between Brightwell-cum-Sotwell to the north, and Mackney to the south. The demolished 
building that was removed for the current application was described as not being of a 
comparative size and could not have provided the space required for the applicant’s 
intended use of the new agricultural building.  The committee were told that the council 
had sought the professional advice of Reading Agricultural Services in relation to whether 
there was a need for the building, and the recommendation was that the size was 
appropriate and there was a valid agricultural need. Subject to conditions, the planning 
officer confirmed that the application was acceptable and therefore recommended for 
approval.  
 
Councillor Celia Collett, a representative of Brightwell-cum-Sotwell Parish Council, spoke 
in objection to the application. The committee asked the speaker whether this application 
fell under a local neighbourhood development plan conflict. The speaker confirmed that 
work was still underway on these plans, and that the parish had been proactive in 
supporting businesses and other local development, but that this objection was down to 
the specific site that was being applied for development. 
 
Ms Sara Tucker, the agent, spoke in support of the application. The speaker was asked 
why this parcel of land had been chose for the application, to which the speaker explained 
that the site would be the main area for livestock, and this parcel would become the centre 
of livestock production. A second question was asked by the committee on waste and 
drainage from the barn, to which the speaker clarified that animals would be given straw 
bedding, and manure and urine would be absorbed or spread in accordance with the legal 

Page 27



 6 

requirements. The speaker also confirmed that they were aware of a surface water 
condition which was already proposed. 
 
Councillor Anne-Marie Simpson, local ward member, spoke in objection to the application. 
 
The planning officer was asked whether a condition could be tied to the current applicant 
requiring the building to be demolished should ownership of the site change. The planning 
officer confirmed that condition six could be modified to incorporate this request. The 
committee discussed the importance that the proposed agricultural building fit 
appropriately in its design to the local area, and requested confirmation from the planning 
officers on whether a condition requiring a dark coloured timber for construction was 
possible. The planning officer confirmed that this request could be added as a condition 
and factored into the existing fifth planning condition. 
 
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote. 
 
RESOLVED: to grant planning permission to application P22/S1297/FUL subject to the 
following conditions: 
Standard Conditions 

1. Commencement three years – Full Planning Permission 

2. Approved plans 

Pre-commencement conditions 
3. Surface Water Drainage 

4. Biodiversity mitigation and enhancement strategy 

Compliance conditions 
5. Materials as on plan and for the agricultural building to be constructed using dark 

timber materials 

6. Agricultural use only and as specified in the planning application 

7. No external lighting on the eastern elevation 

 

35 P22/S0788/FUL - Stow House Thames Road, Goring  
 
The application was deferred to enable a site visit to take place. 
 
 
 
 
The meeting closed at 7.55 pm 
 
 
 
Chair Date 

 

 
 

Page 28



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 10 August 2022 

 

 
 APPLICATION NO. P21/S4923/FUL 
 APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION 
 REGISTERED 22.11.2021 
 PARISH CHOLSEY 
 WARD MEMBER(S) Anne-Marie Simpson 

Jane Murphy 
 APPLICANT Mr N Miah 
 SITE Cholsey Free Church 26A Honey Lane Cholsey, 

OX10 9NL 
 PROPOSAL Proposed change of use from a church to residential 

use as amended by plans received on 4 January. 
(As amended by plans received on 24 January 
altering the fenestration details and amplified by bat 
report received 7 March 2022 and as amplified by 
bat survey report dated 27 June 2022). 

 OFFICER Kim Gould 
 

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION  
1.1 This report sets out the justification for the recommendation to grant planning 

permission having regard to the development plan and any other material planning 
considerations. The application is referred to Planning Committee because the 
recommendation to approve planning permission conflicts with the views of the 
Cholsey Parish Council and the County Highway Authority who object to the proposal.  
 

1.2 The site lies within the built-up limits of Cholsey, in a backland location behind a 
terrace of houses on Honey Lane to the east and Brookside dwellings to the west. 
Cholsey Free Church is currently vacant. There is an existing narrow vehicular access 
to the site from Honey Lane. The building is shown on historic maps as a Baptist 
Chapel as far back as 1870. 
 

1.3 The northern elevation of the church forms part of the boundary with number 22 
Honey Lane whilst the south and western boundaries form the boundary with number 
8 Brookside. The site is identified on the map extract attached at Appendix 1. 
 

1.4 THE PROPOSAL. In its amended form, this application seeks full planning permission 
to convert the existing church building into a three-bedroom dwelling with amenity 
space, bin storage cycle and vehicle parking.   
 

1.5 The proposal includes the partial demolition of a side/rear extension and the insertion 
of rooflights in the southern and northern elevations and the replacement a window in 
the western elevation with a high-level window. 
 

1.6 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached at Appendix 
2. Full copies of the plans and consultation responses are available for inspection on 
the Council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk 

 
2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS 
2.1 Cholsey Parish Council – objection – Inadequate parking which contravenes Cholsey 

Neighbourhood Plan policy H6. The Parish Council also shares the concerns of the 
neighbours regarding the large rooflights in the roof which would result in loss of 
neighbours’ privacy. 

Page 29

Agenda Item 8

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P21/S4923/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 10 August 2022 

 
OCC Archaeological Services – No objection  
 
OCC Highways Liaison Officer  – Objection 
 
An access onto Honey Lane exists, however, this does not meet guidance in terms of 
visibility splays. Furthermore, this access is unlikely to support the movement of motor 
vehicles to the proposed parking spaces adjacent to the building. This access was 
measured at its narrowest point to be 1.9 metres.  
 
In addition, it is unclear how vehicles would be able to access, egress and turn within 
the site given the geometry of this access drive using vehicular swept path analysis.  
 
Countryside Officer - Following submission of a Bat Survey Report – No objection. 
The document concludes that no bats emerged or entered the building during the dusk 
emergence and dawn re-entry surveys. Therefore, I am satisfied that the proposed 
development is unlikely to impact roosting bats.  
 
Neighbour objections (5) Initial plans  

 Inaccurate plans 

 Essential that privacy glass is used on the arched windows in the northern 
elevation. 

 These windows must not open beyond the limit of the sill 

 Rooflights in the north elevation are unneighbourly and adversely affect the 
appearance of the attractive roof scape. 

 Dangerous access  

 Window in bedroom 1 will look directly into private rear garden 

 Bin store should be removed from boundary with number 8 Brookside to reduce 
odour and vermin. 

 Site is too small for 2 cars and access is dangerous. 

 Nos 22, 24 and 26 Honey Lane have always enjoyed the rights to access over 
the Free Church’s ground 

 Potential loss of light by erection of solid barrier between number 26 and the 
new development. 

 
Neighbour objections (3) Subsequent Plans 

 Rooflights are inappropriate and potentially unneighbourly 

 Arched windows in northern elevation should be obscure glazed and have 
limited opening. 

 Dangerous access and egress of site. 

 Access to the site is very tight for delivery vehicles 

 Hours of operation should be controlled 

 Insufficient room for 2 cars on the site. 

 Rights of access to be maintained. 

 Loss of light potentially from boundary treatments. 
 
The consultations responses can be seen in full on the council’s website at 
www.southoxon.gov.uk 
 

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
3.1 P68/R3964 - Approved (05/12/1968) 

Proposed extension to form hall, kitchen and sanitary accommodation 
 

 

Page 30

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P68/R3964


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 10 August 2022 

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
4.1 The site is not in a sensitive location and an EIA is not required for this relatively small 

scale of development. 
 
5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE 
5.1 Development Plan Policies 

  
 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies: 

CF1  -  Safeguarding Community Facilities 
DES1  -  Delivering High Quality Development 
DES10  -  Carbon Reduction 
DES2  -  Enhancing Local Character 
DES5  -  Outdoor Amenity Space 
DES6  -  Residential Amenity 
DES8  -  Promoting Sustainable Design 
DES9  -  Renewable Energy 
ENV3  -  Biodiversity 
TRANS5  -  Consideration of Development Proposals 
H16  -  Backland and Infill Development and Redevelopment 
 

5.2 Neighbourhood Plan  
Cholsey Neighbourhood Plan made 2019 

 H2 Infill 
H6 Parking 
CNP15 Loss of essential community facility 
 
The Parish Council has begun a review of the plan. The Parish Council has submitted 

the review Neighbourhood Plan for consultation. This consultation runs from 20 July to 

31 August 2022. Policy H2 has some minor changes to improve clarity and remove 

duplication but other relevant policies remain the same. 

 
 

5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents 
 South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse Joint Design Guide 2022 (SVJDG) 

  
5.4 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance 

 
5.5 Other Relevant Legislation 
 Human Rights Act 1998 

The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report. 
 

 Equality Act 2010 
In determining this planning application, the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. 

 
6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
6.1 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 

applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
 

6.2 Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local 
planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far 
as material to the application, and to any other material considerations. Development 

Page 31



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 10 August 2022 

which is not in accordance with an up-to-date development plan should be refused 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

6.3 In the case of this application, South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) and the 
Cholsey Neighbourhood Plan (CNP) comprise the development plan and the policies 
within it must be assessed in relation to the material considerations relevant to this 
proposal. 
 

6.4 The main issues to consider in relation to this development are as follows: 
 

 Principle of development 

 Loss of community facility 

 Design and character 

 Residential amenity of neighbours 

 Access and Parking 

 Garden size 

 Biodiversity 

 Sustainable development and carbon reduction  
 

6.5 Principle. The spatial strategy in Policy STRAT1 of the SOLP establishes a settlement 
hierarchy where the amount and location of new housing is related to the availability of 
facilities and services in order to achieve a sustainable pattern of development. Policy 
H1 of the SOLP also deals with the delivery of new homes, allowing new housing on 
allocated sites (including Neighbourhood Plan (NP) allocations). 
Cholsey has a made Neighbourhood Plan, but this site is not an allocated site for 
residential development. 
 

6.6 In this case the proposal involves the conversion of an existing building. Paragraph 84 
of the NPPF encourages the re-use of existing buildings in rural areas. Where sites are 
not specifically allocated for housing, Policy H1. 3 vii) of the SOLP allows for residential 
development where “it would bring redundant or disused buildings into residential use 
and would enhance its immediate surroundings.” 

  
6.7 This proposal seeks to convert an existing building which has been empty and 

neglected for over 2 years. It involves the demolition of an unattractive side/rear 
extension which would improve the overall appearance of the building. The church is an 
attractive building which will be retained, and its longevity secured by a residential use. 
As such, I consider that the conversion would enhance the building’s immediate 
surroundings by being retained and the principle of converting this building is 
considered acceptable.   
 

6.8 It should be noted that the Cholsey Neighbourhood Plan does not contain a policy 
which relates to the conversion of disused buildings to residential uses. 
 

6.9 Loss of community facility 
Policy CF1 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that proposals will not result in the loss of an 
essential community facility or service through change or use or redevelopment unless 
it would lead to a significant improvement of an existing facility or has been determined 
that the community facility is no longer needed or in the case of commercial services is 
not economically viable. Policy CNP 15 of the CNP echoes these aims. 
 

6.10 In this case, the Free Church has been vacant for 2 years. It is not the only place of 
worship within Cholsey – St Mary’s Church is located to the north west of the village. As 
such, the Free Church is not considered an essential community facility. Also of 

Page 32



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 10 August 2022 

relevance is that although the Parish Council have objected to this proposal it is not on 
the grounds of the loss of an essential community facility.  
 

6.11 Design and character 
Policy DES2 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that all new development is designed to 
reflect the positive features that make up the character of the local area and should 
both physically and visually enhance and complement the surroundings. 
 

6.12 The church is an attractive building with a half-hipped clay tiled roof with painted, 
rendered walls. There are arched windows in the north and south elevations. It is 
readily visible from Honey Lane and is closely surrounded by residential development.  
The building has been vacant since mid-2020. It currently provides ground floor 
accommodation only. A modern extension to the side is proposed to be demolished. 
 

6.13 In this case, the application proposes the conversion/change of use of an existing 
building. The most pertinent external alterations are the insertion of rooflights in the 
north and south elevations. These additions will not, in my view materially alter the 
established design and character of the building and would not be out of keeping with 
the character of the area. 
 

6.14 Residential amenity of neighbours 
Policy DES6 of the SOLP relates to residential amenity and requires development 
proposals to demonstrate that they will not result in significant adverse impacts on the 
amenity of neighbouring uses, when considering both individual and cumulative 
impacts in relation to loss of privacy, day light and sunlight, dominance or visual 
intrusion, noise or vibration, smell dust, heat, odour or other emissions, pollution and 
external lighting.  
 

6.15 The most affected neighbours by this development are no 8 Brookside to the southwest 
and numbers 22 – 26 Honey Lane to the east. The north, west and south elevations of 
the church form part of the boundary to these neighbouring properties. 
 

6.16 There are existing windows in the church which face the neighbouring properties. The 
church currently has ground floor accommodation only. The proposal involves the 
creation of first floor accommodation hence there is the potential for overlooking from 
the existing windows and proposed rooflights into neighbouring gardens. This is a 
concern which has been raised by the neighbours. 
 

6.17 In its amended form, a window in the western elevation which would have overlooked 
the private rear garden of number 8 Brookside has been replaced with a high-level 
window. A condition has been recommended which will require the existing windows in 
the north elevations and one in the southern elevation to be obscure glazed and to be 
retained as such. Those in the northern elevation will be fixed shut with the exception of 
a top opening fan light.  In addition, a condition is recommended that the rooflights in 
the south and north elevations and the high-level window in the western elevation 
would have a cill height of at least 1.7m above finished floor level to protect neighbour 
amenity. A condition requiring details of the boundary treatments along the southern 
boundary to be submitted and approved prior to the occupation of the building has also 
been recommended to ensure that when the single storey side extension is removed, 
there will not be any direct overlooking into the private rear garden of number 8 
Brookside.  
 

6.18 Subject to these conditions it is my opinion that the proposed development would not 
result in significant adverse impact on neighbour amenity.  
 

Page 33



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 10 August 2022 

6.19 Access and Parking 
With respect to highway safety matters the advice from Central Government set out in 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is as follows: 
 
Development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds where the 
residual cumulative impacts of the development are severe.  
 

6.20 The term severe is locally interpreted as situations, which have a high impact, likely to 
result in loss of life or a higher possibility of occurrence with a lower impact.  
 

6.21 Policy TRANS5 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that development does not harm highway 
safety and provides for sufficient parking and turning areas. Cholsey Parish Council 
have objected to the planning application on the grounds of insufficient parking and 
being contrary to policy CNP H6 of the CNP which requires 2.4 parking spaces for a 
new three-bed housing proposals. CNP H6 requires the number of spaces be rounded 
up on smaller schemes of less than 10 houses and for extensions to existing dwellings 
– so three car parking spaces would be required for a new build three bed dwelling. 
CNP H6 does not specifically refer to conversion of buildings to a residential use. 
 

6.22 The existing access is narrow with poor visibility. The highway authority has objected to 
the proposal on the grounds that visibility is substandard, and a vehicle is unlikely to be 
able to easily access the site given the narrowness of the driveway and is unlikely to be 
able to turn within the site to exit in a forward gear.  
 

6.23 In this case, the church has a vehicular access which has been used historically in 
association with the church and more recently by neighbours who have periodically 
parked their cars on the site and had deliveries made to their houses via this access. It 
is unlikely that the use as a dwelling will involve a significant increase in traffic 
generation on the site. This is a material consideration in the determination of this 
application.  
 

6.24 Your officers acknowledge that the access is very narrow with substandard visibility. 
Given the existence of the vehicular access your officers consider that it would be 
unreasonable to refuse the application on highway safety grounds because traffic levels 
are unlikely to change significantly.  
 

6.25 I have explored with the highway officer whether a condition could be added to any 
planning permission requiring the existing access to the site off Honey Lane to be 
restricted to pedestrian access only and for any vehicles used by the occupier of the 
conversion to be parked on Honey Lane which is unrestricted.  
 

6.26 Whilst the highway officer agrees that such a condition would address his concerns in 
relation to the access, he is of the opinion that this is likely to result in indiscriminate 
and or obstructive parking occurring within the vicinity of the site increasing the risk to 
highway safety and to other users of the Highway. 
 

6.27 In assessing this proposal, consideration must be given to changes of use that could be 
carried out within permitted development rights. A church use falls within Class F1 of 
the Use Classes Order 1987 (as amended). Other uses within class F1 include schools, 
galleries, museums, exhibition rooms and libraries. Such alternative uses would not 
require planning permission and could potentially attract greater vehicular movements 
within the site than a single dwelling. The use of the building as a children’s nursery, for 
example, could attract large numbers of vehicular movements at peak times and also 
lead to an adverse impact on neighbour amenity by way of noise and disturbance.  

Page 34



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 10 August 2022 

Alternative uses for the site which do not require planning permission are a material 
consideration in the determination of this planning application.  
 

6.28 I have discussed the potential permitted uses for the building with the highway liaison 
officer. He acknowledges that these uses could result in more vehicular movements 
than the proposal and lead to further indiscriminate and or obstructive parking occurring 
within the vicinity. He does, however, have to consider the proposal on the information 
submitted with this application and maintains the objection to the proposal on highway 
safety grounds.  
 

6.29 Having carefully considered the highway officer’s comments and concerns, your officers 
are of the opinion that given that the access exists and has been used in association 
with a church and that alternative uses permitted without planning permission could 
generate greater vehicular movements both within and outside the site, a refusal of 
planning permission on highway safety grounds would not be justified in this case.  
 

6.30 Garden sizes 
Policy DES5 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that a private outdoor garden or amenity 
space is provided for all new dwellings. The amount of land that should be provided for 
the garden or amenity space will be determined by the size of the dwelling proposed 
and by the character of surrounding development.  
 

6.31 The Joint South and Vale Design Guide advises that a three-bed dwelling should have 
an amenity space of some 100sqm. In this case, an existing building with an 
established curtilage is being converted and opportunities to provide any additional 
area is very limited given the close relationship with neighbours. However, the amenity 
space which will be provided for this dwelling including the driveway would be some 
110sqm, which is considered acceptable in the circumstances.  
 

6.32 Biodiversity 
Policy ENV3 of the SOLP relates to biodiversity. It states that all development should 
provide a net gain in biodiversity where possible. As a minimum, there should be no net 
loss of biodiversity. The submitted bat survey has confirmed that there would be no 
harm to roosting bats from this development. 
 

6.33 This development does not result in the loss of biodiversity. Opportunities for a gain in 
biodiversity are very limited on this site given the size of the plot and the location. There 
will be no net loss of biodiversity and a condition is proposed that requires a bird box to 
be fixed to the building prior to the first occupation of the dwelling to satisfy the 
requirement of Policy ENV3 of the SOLP. 
 

6.34 Sustainable development and carbon reduction  
 Policy DES8 of the SOLP states that all new development, including building 

conversions, refurbishments and extensions, should seek to minimise the carbon and 
energy impacts of their design and construction. Proposals must demonstrate that they 
are seeking to limit greenhouse emissions through location, building orientation, design, 
landscape and planting. 
 

6.35 In relation to carbon reduction and sustainable development, the agent has submitted 
the following comments: 
 
the conversion of the building has been designed at the preliminary planning stage to 
ensure high levels of energy efficiency, low carbon emissions and resilience to climate 
change. This has been achieved with a combination of elements incorporated to benefit 
the building’s overall long-term performance. 

Page 35



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 10 August 2022 

The conversion has been reviewed as part of a holistic approach by focusing on the 
building’s energy performance, energy requirements and airtightness. The 
effectiveness of thermal insulation can be significantly reduced as up to 70% of a 
buildings heat loss can be through air leakage. To address this, the conversion will be 
designed to achieve a high level of airtightness and minimise air leakage through 
appropriate design and detailing.   Appropriate levels of background and forced 
ventilation will ensure a comfortable internal environment.  Grey water recycling and 
rainwater harvesting measures can also be incorporated at the detailed design stage.  

Further improvements to the performance of the building will be made when specific 
manufacturers details and materials are known.   A formal SAP rating will then be 
produced for Building Regulations approval. Further active measures for keeping 
energy demand to a minimum will be achieved by: • use of PIR sensors for lighting 
where possible; • use of advanced heating controls; and • use of ‘A’ rated appliances. 

 
 

6.36 As such, I believe the proposal accords with policy DES8 of the SOLP. 
 

6.37 Community Infrastructure Levy 
 The development is liable for £8,355.27 of CIL money 25% of which will go to Cholsey 

Parish Council because there is made Neighbourhood Plan.  
 

 
7.0 CONCLUSION 
7.1 The proposed development will result in the creation of a new residential unit in a highly 

sustainable location within Cholsey. As amended, the proposal will not result in 
significant adverse impacts to neighbouring amenity. Alternative permitted uses for the 
building have been considered and are likely to result in more vehicular movements 
and demand for parking either within or close to the site than the proposed use as a 
single dwelling. The proposal generally accords with Development Plan policies and 
Government advice.  
 

 
8.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 Planning Permission 
 1 : Commencement 3 years - Full Planning Permission 

2 : Approved plans 
3 : Materials as on plan 
4 : Obscure glazing northern elevation 
5 : Obscure glazing southern elevation  
6 : Rooflights (specified cill level) 
7 : Withdrawal of P.D. (Part 1 Class A) - no extensions etc 
8 : Withdrawal of P.D. (Part 1 Class E) - no buildings etc 
9 : Landscaping (incl boundary treatment) 
10: Bird box to be attached to building pre occupation  
11 : Restricted hours of operation – construction/demolition 
 

 

 

 

   

 

Page 36



Appendix 1

The site

Page 37

Agenda Item 8



0 
0 
co 

I 
1500 1000 

-

SIDE ELEVATION FRONT ELEVATION 

SECURE CYCLE SCALE 1:50 

(CLOSED BOARDED TIMBER 
CONSTRUCTION & FELT ROOF) 

SIDE 
ELEVATION 

; I 

T lJ 

CYCLE 
STORE 

FRONT 
ELEVATION 

POSITION OF YCLE STORE 
SEE DETAILS( EE ATTACHED 
SHEET) 

Proposed Block Plan 
Scale: 1 /200 

Drawing: 

Bin and Cycle store Details 

co 

Pro Planning Solutions 

Tel: 07534354000 
f----------+----------5: 

Email: arshad.mahmood2008@yahoo.co.uk LO Client: 
26a honey lane Cholsey free church Wallingford f----�--------1 ,;.; 
OX10 9NL Scale@A3: 1:50 

i?5 

Note: All dimensions to be checked on site 

1 :200 Drawing Number: 05 N 

Drawing Date 
21 Jan. 2022 

Drawn by: 

K/F 

Revision 
� 
� 

.._1�:5 0-S-CA-
LE- B-AR_ o _

i 
--- o-.5 ___ 1 ___ 1.s __ _ 2 ---2-.5m�1 -: 1 0- 0 -SC-AL _E _BA_R ___ _ 1 ___ 2 _ __ 3 ___ 4 _

_
_ 5m�1:-20-□ S- C -AL-E B _A _R ____ 2 ___ 4 __ _ 6 -- -a ---1-om�1-:5 -00 -SC-A-LE-BA_R ___ _ 5 ---1- 0 ---1 -5 -

-
-2o�

w
-2s-m �1--1 25-□ -SC-A-LE -BA_R _? _ __ 12-.s�- -25 -

-
�37.-5 --- s-om--�62-.5m�� � 

01
Appendix 2

P
age 38



(X) 

0 
N 

4 2 

Proposed Block Location Plan 
Scale: 1/500 

□ 

0 
□ 

0 
N 

4 

0 

2 

Existing Block Location Plan 
Scale: I/ 500 

Drawing: 

□ 

Block Location Plans Pro Planning Solutions 

Tel: 07534354000 
1---------------1------------------15:

Emall: arshad.mahmood20D8@yahoo.co.uk LO Client: 
26a honey lane Cholsey free church Wallingford 
OX10 9NL 

Note: All dimensions to be checked on site 

I-S-ca-
l
e_@A_3_

: -1:5_0_0.------------1 cio

Lt) 

c'-.i 

Drawing Date 
21 Jan. 2022 

Drawing Number: 06 

Drawn by: Revision 

K/F  

"' 
"'
0 

1------------------------r-----------------------"""T-----------------------"""T--------------------�--"""T-------------------------.---£::1 
1:50 SCALE BAR 9 _o_s ---,i ....,l 5 --i --i sm 1:100 SCALE BAR 9 _1 --J --i __: .. ..,r 1:200 SCALE BAR 9 _2 -4 ....; � ....,l0m 1:500 SCALE BAR -5 ....,l0 ....,l5 --io --ism 1:1250 SCALE BAR 9 ....,l2·5 

__;
5 --175 ..,.jom ___:2-5m 

02

P
age 39



c=ic=ic=i 

□□□ 

Ell Ell □ 
Existing Front Elevation 
Scale: 1/100 

§ 
Existing Side Elevation 
Scale: I/ l00 

8 

Existing Rear Elevation 
Scale: I/ l00 

u u L u u J � u u u u u u u u1h u u u u u u u u J u u u
u LJ iJu u-iJu f iJu u-iJu uJ iJu} CTu1 u-iJu u-iJu u-L L-du1 u

u1 W iJ LJ W L LJ W J _ W iJ LJ W iJ LJ W iJ � W iJ LJ W iJ LJ W iJ LJ I-iJ LJ W L LJ 

1 u uffi1nnrnminmffiir-Hrhrmnnnnn� ffil,,-1 1
-,-,ui==:::::::;::i

J W iJlJ W LlJ W J � W iJlJ W iJlJ W IJ� W iJlJ W iJlJ W iJlJ 1-iJlJ W LlJ I 

§ § 
Existing Side Elevation 
Scale: 1/IO0 

Drawing: 

Existing Elevations Pro Planning Solutions 

Tel: 07534354000 
1-----------------------15: 

Emall: arshad.mahmood20D8@yahoo.co.uk LO Client: 
26a honey lane Cholsey free church Wallingford 
OX10 9NL I-Sca-le-@A-3:-1:-100......---------I cio 

Lt) 
c'-.i 

Drawing Number: 02 

1------------------.-------1 "'"' 
0 Note: All dimensions to be checked on site 

Drawing Date 
21 Jan. 2022 

Drawn by: 

K/F 

Revision 

----------------r------------------r----------------""T"'""---------------..---------------�----r--£::1 
1:50 SCALE BAR 9 _o_s ---,i ....,l 5 --i --i sm 1:100 SCALE BAR 9 _1 --J --i __: .. ..,r 1:200 SCALE BAR 9 _2 -4 ....; � ....,l0m 1:500 SCALE BAR -5 ....,l0 ....,l5 --io --ism 1:1250 SCALE BAR 9 ....,l2·5 __;s --175 __,jom ___:2-5m 

02

P
age 40



nnn� 
B 

Proposed Front Elevation 
Scale: 1/100 

Proposed Side Elevation 
Scale: I /100 

8 

Proposed Rear Elevation 
Scale: I/ 100 

§ 
Proposed Side Elevation 
Scale: I/ 100 

Drawing: 

Proposed Elevations Pro Planning Solutions 

Tel: 07534354000 
1------------------------15: 

Emall: arshad.mahmood20D8@yahoo.co.uk LO Client: 
26a honey lane Cholsey free church Wallingford 
OX10 9NL I-S-cale_@A_3_: 1-:10....,0 ,---------I cio 

Lt) 

c'-.i 
Drawing Number: 04 

1-----------+------+-------.-------1 "'
"' 
0 Note: All dimensions to be checked on site 

Drawing Date 
21 Jan. 2022 

Drawn by: 

K/F 

Revision 

-�----"""'T"
1:50 SCALE BAR 9 _ _s ---,i ....,l --i --i s 1:100 SCALE BAR 9 _ --J --i __: .. ..,r 1:200 SCALE BAR 9 _ - ....; � ....,l 1:500 SCALE BAR - ....,l ....,l --i --is 1:1250 SCALE BAR 9 ....,l · __;s --1 ---,i ..,.:2 5

02

P
age 41



1 :50 SCALE BAR � 0.5 
-

1 
-

1.5 
-

2 
-

__,J·5m 1: 100 SCALE BAR 

Existing Ground Floor Plan 
Scale: 1/100 

1 
-

2 
-

3 
-

4 
- -aim 1 :200 SCALE BAR 2 

-

4 
-

Flat Roof 

6 
-

8 
-

10m 
- 1 :500 SCALE BAR 

Flat Roof 

Existing Roof Plan 
Scale: 1/100 

5 
-

10 
-

15 
-

20 
-

Drawing: 

Existing Plans 

Title: 

Client: 

26a honey lane Cholsey free church Wallingford 

OX10 9NL 

Note: All dimensions to be checked on site 

25m 
- 1:1250 SCALE BAR 12.5 

-

z 

Pro Planning Solutions 

Tel: 07534354000 

Emall: arshad.mahmood20D8@yahoo.co.uk 

Scale@A3: 1:100 

Drawing Number: 01 

Drawing Date 

21 Jan. 2022 

Drawn by: 

K/F 

25 37.5 50m 
- - -

Revision 

02 

62.5m 
-

:::;; 
a. 
L() 

cxi 
L() 
N 

N 
N 
D 

� 

� 

P
age 42



1 :50 SCALE BAR ? 0.5 
-

1 
-

KITCHEN/ 

r

lNG 

LOUNGE 

Proposed Ground Floor Plan 
Scale: 1 / 100 

1.5 
-

2 
-

__,J·5m 1: 100 SCALE BAR ? 1 
-

2 
-

3 
-

t 

/ 
///',"1/ /. 

/
,;

>;;� /:-1 I/// //" / � ;;;:/ / 1/ /
1

� / 

/ 0 (((((((( II �. '/ \\\\\\\\ -
"1/ 
/ DROOM 1 N

YI? 
B 

I 
,- 1;::;: / 

;
;;" 

I r3//1/ 

Jrr I 
/ 

-� c-------1, I --] 
/� � - - - - - -

;:.; 

D I � 
�THRnQ� /1/

1/ 
/ ;/ - - I/. 

/ 
'/ , ... un.uu, 112 C

V / 

= 
l 

� 
7 
1W 

I I 
/ 

f 

/ -� -
1/
1/ 

·-
- .  
/ 
1/
/ / 
w

/ ,  

0: 

0•1 il 
//, 

:;-:. :/ ;/ // ; -;.:/ 

!t' �

ti: =1 ,' i 
I/;-LANDING 

I
// 

1::�

3 
- .

/ 

� 

L / 

�/ STORAGE 
-

� rr 1; 
//

1/ 
1/ _.; •�::/ - . - ; v; . 1/;;v ; /

6� 
, __ J:: p l�_j=::J 

-i -=i= 

R
� =i7-

n� �7,- �--j 
I _j- I_ U ,=i l_j 
u- ,-_J l�_J 1-

Proposed First Floor Plan 
Scale: 1 / 100 

4 
- -aim 1 :200 SCALE BAR ? 2 

-

4 
-

6 
-

8 
-

10m 
- 1 :500 SCALE BAR 5 

-

Proposed Roof Plan 
Scale: 1/100 

10 
-

15 
-

20 
-

z 

Drawing: 

Proposed Plans Pro Planning Solutions 

Title. **"****"******"***** 

Tel: 07534354000 

----------------11-----------------15: 
Emall: arshad.mahmood20D8@yahoo.co.uk LO Client: 

26a honey lane Cholsey free church Wallingford 

OX10 9NL 

Note: All dimensions to be checked on site 

25m 
- 1:1250 SCALE BAR ? 12.5 

-

-----r------------t ex,".Scale@A3: 1:100 
Lt) Drawing Number: 03 N 

Drawing Date 

21 Jan. 2022 

Drawn by: 

K/F 

25 37.5 50m 
- - -

Revision 

02 

62.5m 
-

N
N 
D � 
� 

P
age 43



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 10 August 2022 

 

 
 APPLICATION NO. P22/S0429/FUL 
 APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION 
 REGISTERED 10.3.2022 
 PARISH WOODCOTE 
 WARD MEMBER(S) Jo Robb 

Lorraine Hillier 
 APPLICANT Mr R Hawthorne & Mr J Hawthorne 
 SITE Land at 69 West Chiltern Woodcote, RG8 0SG 
 PROPOSAL Proposed new dwelling. (Amended plans 

received 30th May 2022, reducing depth of front 
projection, relocating dormer windows to front 
roofslope and increasing off-street parking 
provision) 

 OFFICER Simon Kitson 
 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL 
1.1 This report sets out the justification for the recommendation to grant planning 

permission having regard to the development plan and other material planning 
considerations. The application is referred to the planning committee because 
the recommendation to approve planning permission conflicts with the views of 
Woodcote Parish Council. 
 

1.2 The site 
The application site is a residential property located at the end of a cul-de-sac 
within the built-up limits of Woodcote. The area proposed for development 
measures approximately 425 sq.m and it currently serves as part of the 
domestic gardens maintained by the owner of no. 69 West Chiltern. The site is 
identified on the map extract attached at Appendix 1. 
 
 

1.3 The site falls within the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). 
There are no trees within the site protected by a Tree Preservation Order 
(TPO). 
 

1.4 The proposal  
In 2021 an application was submitted for the erection of a new dwelling on the 
land. This was subsequently withdrawn following a number of concerns 
expressed by the Council. These were primarily in relation to aspects of the 
design, the impact upon neighbouring amenity and the level of parking 
provision. Extracts from the withdrawn scheme are attached at Appendix 2. 
 

1.5 The application seeks planning permission for a three-bedroom dwelling (two 
bedrooms at first floor). The main changes from the withdrawn scheme are a 
reduction in the scale of the dwelling, a simplification of the design and an 
increase in the level of parking provision. The amended dwelling would have a 
footprint of approximately 125 sqm and a height reaching approximately 5.65m 
to the ridge, with first floor accommodation in the roof space. Three parking 

Page 45

Agenda Item 9

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P22/S0429/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 10 August 2022 

spaces are proposed and there would be a rear garden area of approximately 
140sq.m. 
     

1.6 The proposed site plan, elevations and floor plans are attached at Appendix 3. 
All associated documents and consultation responses can be viewed on the 
council’s website: www.southoxon.gov.uk 

 

2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS 
2.1 Woodcote Parish Council – Objection 

 Still an overdevelopment of the site 

 The dwelling would still be close to existing neighbours’ boundaries on all 
sides. This looks cramped and not in keeping with village feel 

 Moving dormers to front of building reduces privacy issues with original 
plan but has not eliminated them due the proposed property being so 
close to boundaries with adjacent properties 

 Parking and access to adjacent properties on that part of the road is still 
a concern. There are 5 existing driveways in close proximity and 
accidents have already happened. The parking spaces in a row may be 
unrealistic 

 No mention of altering building materials to alternatives that are more in 
keeping with surrounding properties 

 Should the Officer be minded to approve this plan Woodcote PC request 
restricted building hours 

 
Countryside Officer – No objections, subject to a wild bird informative. Further 
verbal advice provided 27/7 requesting additional bat and bird boxes in order to 
provide a biodiversity enhancement 
 
OCC Highways – No objection 

 The parking provision is acceptable and accords with the adopted 
standards 

 Given the characteristics of the carriageway, vehicular traffic and speeds 
are considered to be relatively low 

 
Energy Assessor – No objection 

 The proposal complies with Policy DES10, subject to a compliance 
condition 

 
Neighbour No objection (1) – Key points 

 The scheme is well-designed to ensure privacy and it would be in-
keeping with the rest of the properties in the road. 

 
Neighbour objection (2) – Key points: 

 Notwithstanding the removal of some privacy issues, there would still be 
ground floor openings across the rear elevation, impacting on the privacy 
of the properties to the rear.  

 The rear elevation would be approximately 15 -16m from habitable 
neighbouring rooms. This fails the design guide 25m recommendations 

 Should the development be approved, working day conditions for 
construction activity are requested. 

Page 46



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 10 August 2022 

 The proposal would still be an overdevelopment of the site 

 Questions raised over whether trees would be adequately protected. 
 

2.1 Additional technical comments provided on original application  
 
Forestry Officer – No objection 

 None of the remaining trees have sufficient value to be considered a 
constraint. 

 A tree protection condition is required, along with a landscaping condition 
to secure planting to soften the proposed development and help to 
mitigate tree removal 
 

Drainage Engineer – No objection 

 Foul and surface water drainage details should be agreed by way of a 
condition. 

 

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
3.1 P22/S0521/HH - Approved (31/03/2022) 

Proposed ground floor front extension. Loft conversion with rear dormer, and a 
side extension to form a car port 
 
P21/S2147/FUL - Withdrawn (21/09/2021) 
Proposed new dwelling (Amended plans received 29th July 2021, including: 
changes to position of the building, reconfiguration of internal layout, reduction 
in part of roof height and change to parking arrangement) 

 

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
4.1 Not applicable to this scale of development. 

 

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE 
5.1 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies: 

  
 DES1  -  Delivering High Quality Development 

DES10  -  Carbon Reduction 
DES2  -  Enhancing Local Character 
DES5  -  Outdoor Amenity Space 
DES6  -  Residential Amenity 
DES8  -  Promoting Sustainable Design 
ENV1  -  Landscape and Countryside 
ENV2  -  Biodiversity - Designated sites, Priority Habitats and Species 
ENV3  -  Biodiversity 
EP4  -  Flood Risk 
H1  -  Delivering New Homes 
H4  -  Housing in the Larger Villages 
INF4  -  Water Resources 
TRANS5  -  Consideration of Development Proposals 
 

5.2 Adopted Woodcote Neighbourhood Plan policies 
 
D1 – Good design 
T8 – Residential car parking spaces 

Page 47

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P22/S0521/HH
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P21/S2147/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 10 August 2022 

H10 – Infill housing 
  
5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents 

 South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse Joint Design Guide 2022 (JDG22) 
 

5.4 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance 
 

5.5 Other Relevant Legislation 
 Human Rights Act 1998 

The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in 
the processing of the application and the preparation of this report. 

 Equality Act 2010 
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. 

 

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
6.1 The following considerations are particularly relevant to the proposal:- 

 

 The principle of the development 

 The impact of the design, height, scale and materials upon the character 
of the site, the street scene and the wider landscape 

 The arboricultural impact 

 The ecological impact 

 Energy efficiency 

 The drainage arrangements 

 The impact upon neighbouring amenity, in terms of light, outlook and 
privacy 

 The impact upon the highway network, in terms of highway safety, 
access and parking provision. 

 
6.2 Principle of development 

SOLP Policy H4 and WNP Policy H10 remain supportive of infill and 
redevelopment schemes within this type of sustainable location within the built 
limits of a larger village. The principle is considered acceptable, subject to 
compliance with other development plan policies. 
 

6.3 Scale, design and landscape impact 
The design objectives of the Development Plan, as expressed by SOLP Policies 
DES1, DES2 and WNP Policy D1, require new development to be of a high-
quality and inclusive design that responds positively to and respects the 
character of the site and its surroundings, particularly where there are historic 
significance or heritage values affected. Proposals should seek to enhance local 
distinctiveness and ensure that new development is of a scale, type and density 
appropriate to the site and its setting. The appropriateness of levels of plot 
coverage, layout, building placement, forms and external finish need to be 
considered in the specific context of each site. Policies ENV1 of the SOLP and 
Paragraph 176 of the NPPF attach great weight to the conservation and 
enhancement of the landscape and scenic beauty of AONBs. 
 

Page 48



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 10 August 2022 

6.4 There have been amendments to the scheme which were submitted in response 
to officers’ concerns in relation to the massing of the building, its design and 
neighbouring amenity. Officers now consider that the proposal in its current form 
is acceptable from a design perspective. 
 

6.5 In terms of scale, the plot is large enough to accommodate a single dwelling and 
the garden size would exceed the minimum of 100 sqm recommended within 
the JDG22, with additional space to the front. Although the rear garden depth 
would be less than the recommended 10m in the JDG22, the overall area is 
relatively generous, and officers consider the scheme to be broadly in keeping 
with the surrounding housing grain. The separating distances between the 
building and the two neighbouring properties to either side, which would be a 
minimum of 10m at two-storey level, is considered acceptable in the context of 
the site. The low overall height would mitigate the relatively close proximity of 
the building to the side boundaries. 

  
6.6 Having further regard to the now simple form of the proposed dwelling, officers 

consider that the proposal would not harm the character and appearance of the 
street scene. Subject to the brickwork and roof tiles being similar to the 
neighbouring properties, as indicated in the submitted design and access 
statement, the building is considered to be sufficiently in keeping with the 
vernacular style of the other properties within the locality. A schedule of 
materials should be agreed by way of an appropriate condition.  

  
6.7 Officers consider it necessary in this instance to remove Permitted Development 

(PD) rights for extensions to the dwelling and the provision of outbuildings. It is 
considered important that the Council retains control over these forms of 
development here, in order to ensure that reasonable amenity standards are 
maintained within the site.   
 

6.8 With the above measures in place, officers are satisfied that the scheme 
complies with SOLP Policies DES1, DES2 and ENV1, and WNP Policy D1. The 
proposal would preserve the special landscape character of the wider Chilterns 
AONB. 
 

6.9 Arboricultural impact 
In addition to landscape impact, Policy ENV1 of SOLP aims to protect trees where they 
contribute to the nature and quality of the landscape.   
 

The Council’s Forestry Officer has previously undertaken an assessment of the 
trees within the site during the consideration of the original application. None 
were considered worthy of being protected by a tree preservation order and 
should therefore not be considered a constraint to the proposed development. 
There are no issues with the current development proposal from an 
arboricultural perspective. It is agreed that tree protection measures will be 
required in order to ensure adequate protection of the retained trees throughout 
the construction phase. Additional planting is also recommended in order to 
soften the proposed development and help to mitigate tree removal that has 
taken place. The Forestry Officer is satisfied that these matters can be 
addressed by condition. 

Page 49



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 10 August 2022 

6.10 The ecological impact 
Policy ENV3 of SOLP 2035 aims to ensure that there is a net gain of biodiversity 
as a result of development proposals. As a minimum there should be no net loss 
of biodiversity. 
 
Under the original application, the Council’s ecologist considered the 
developable area to be typical garden habitat, with amenity grassland, 
ornamental trees and shrubs. They recommended that biodiversity 
enhancement measures are provided. 
 

6.11 Following dialogue under the current proposal, the ecologist is satisfied that a 
net ecological gain can be delivered on site in conjunction with a landscaping 
scheme and the provision of bat and bird boxes integrated on the dwelling. They 
are content for these matters to be addressed by way of condition. It is 
recommended that a minimum of one integrated bat box is provided towards the 
top of the front gable, and a minimum of two integrated bird boxes are provided 
at the eastern elevation. Details should be approved prior to any development 
above slab level and the measures should be fully implemented prior to first 
occupation. With these measures in place, officers are satisfied that the scheme 
complies with SOLP Policy ENV3. 
 

6.12 Energy efficiency 
Policy DES10 of the SOLP requires energy statements for new dwellings to 
demonstrate how the design would address a reduction of 40% in carbon 
emissions compared to the building regulations 2013. 
 
The applicant has demonstrated within their supporting energy statement that 
the proposal can achieve a 40% carbon reduction relative to a 2013 Building 
Regulations base case. The proposal complies with SOLP Policy DES10. 
 

6.13 Drainage 
Policy INF4 of the SOLP aims to ensure that development proposals 
demonstrate that there is or will be adequate water supply, surface water, foul 
drainage and sewerage treatment capacity to serve the whole development. 
Policy EP4 of the SOLP aims to minimise flood risk directing new development 
to areas of the lowest probability of flooding and also aims to achieve 
sustainable drainage systems.  
 
The Council’s drainage engineer is satisfied that an appropriate drainage 
scheme can be provided on site, in accordance with SOLP Policy EP4. It is 
recommended that the foul and surface water arrangements are agreed by way 
of condition.  
 

6.14 Neighbouring amenity 
Policy DES6 of the SOLP aims to protect the amenity of neighbouring uses from 
loss of privacy or day/sunlight, visual intrusion, noise, contamination or external 
lighting. 
 
It is noted that objections have been raised on the basis of neighbouring 
amenity.  

Page 50



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 10 August 2022 

6.15 Whilst the distance between the rear elevation and the north-west boundary 
would be approximately 7.5m, views of the building from the neighbouring 
properties to the north would be filtered by the existing vegetation at the 
boundary. The overall height of the building would be relatively low, and officers 
consider that it would not be overly dominant or oppressive.  
 
Whilst the Parish Council raise issue with the separating distances between the 
application dwelling and the neighbouring dwellings at 14 -17 West Chiltern, 
there is not a direct ‘back-back’ relationship as the neighbouring properties are 
not parallel to the rear site boundary. The dwelling at no. 14 is at an oblique 
angle.   
 
In any case, most of the separating distances between the sets of buildings are 
very close to the 21m back-to back recommendation under the JDG22. The 
front-to-front recommendation is 10m. 
 

 
 
Although some parts of the neighbouring dwellings are closer than the 
recommended standard, officers consider this to be satisfactorily mitigated by 
the low height and removal of the originally proposed dormers from the rear 
elevation. The only upper-storey rear openings proposed would be high-level 
rooflights which would not result in any direct overlooking. The ground floor 
windows are not considered to present any material privacy issues.  
 

6.16 There is no evidence that the proposed dwelling would result in unacceptable 
losses of daylight or sunlight, having regard to the orientation of the property 
and the low height of the building. The dwelling would be visible from parts of 
the property at no.75 and 69, but it remains the case that an impact upon private 
views is not a material planning consideration. Officers consider that the 
reduction in height and bulk under this revised scheme has significantly reduced 
the effect upon the neighbours’ outlook to the extent that the relationship is now 
acceptable. The proposal is considered to accord with SOLP Policy DES6, 

Page 51



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 10 August 2022 

subject to the recommended conditions restricting window openings and 
extensions.  
 
For this scale of scheme, officers do not consider that the construction 
management conditions requested by respondents can reasonably be applied 
as they would be unlikely to pass the conditions test set out under the NPPF.  
 

6.17 Highway safety 
With respect to highway safety matters the advice from Central Government set 
out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) makes it clear that 
development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds where 
the residual cumulative impacts of the development are severe.  
 
The term severe is locally interpreted as situations, which have a high impact, 
likely to result in loss of life, or a higher possibility of occurrence with a lower 
impact.  
 
Policy TRANS5 requires that all development provides safe and convenient 
access and parking. 
 
The Local Highways Authority (LHA) raise no issue with the proposal in terms of 
safety issues, visibility standards at the proposed access point, or the level of 
parking provision within the site. 
 

6.18 The proposal accords with Policy T8 of the WNP, which requires one space per 
bedroom, though this is caveated to allow for site specific circumstances and 
Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) standards. The proposal exceeds the 2 
spaces required under OCC’s maximum standards. There is no conflict with 
Policy TRANS5. 
 

6.19 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
The proposal is CIL liable at a rate of £150 per sq.m (index-linked). 

 

7.0 CONCLUSION 
7.1 The proposal broadly complies with the relevant Development Plan policies and 

national planning guidance. Subject to the recommended conditions, officers are 
satisfied that the scale, layout and design of the dwelling would not impact 
adversely upon the character of the site, the street scene or the special 
landscape character of the wider AONB. The proposal is also considered 
acceptable, subject to the attached conditions, in terms of the impact upon the 
neighbouring properties and highway safety. 

 

8.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 Grant Planning Permission, subject to the following conditions: 

 
Summary: 
 

1. Commencement within 3 years. 
 

2. That the development hereby approved shall be carried out in 
accordance with the details shown on the approved plans 

Page 52



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 10 August 2022 

 
3. No development above slab level shall take place until a 

photographic schedule of all materials has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
4. Prior to the first occupation, the parking and turning areas shall be 

provided in accordance with the approved plan and retained 
unobstructed except for the parking of vehicles  

 
5. Prior to the commencement of any development above slab level, a 

scheme for the landscaping of the site shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme 
shall be implemented prior to the first occupation and thereafter be 
maintained in accordance with the approved scheme 

 
6. Prior to the commencement of any site works a protected area shall 

be designated for all existing trees which are shown to be retained, 
and the trees shall be protected in accordance with a scheme which 
complies with the current edition of BS 5837: The agreed measures 
shall be kept in place during the entire course of development. 
 

7. Prior to the commencement of development, a full surface water 
drainage scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved details prior to the first occupation 
of the development hereby approved. 
 

8. Prior to the commencement of development, a full foul water 
drainage scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved details prior to the first occupation 
of the development hereby approved. 
 

9. Prior to any development above slab level, details of biodiversity 
enhancement measures shall be submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the Local Planning Authority. For the avoidance of doubt, 
these shall consist of a minimum of one integrated bat box to the 
front elevation and two integrated bird boxes at the eastern side 
elevation.  The measures shall be implemented prior to first 
occupation of the dwelling and retained as such thereafter.  

 
10. Prior to first occupation, all carbon reduction energy efficiency 

measures shall be implemented in accordance with the Energy 
Statement hereby approved and a Verification Report shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority and approved in writing 

 
11. The cill level of the rooflights in the rear elevation shall be at least 

1.7 metres above the floor level of the associated rooms and shall 
be retained as such. No additional openings shall be inserted into 

Page 53



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee 10 August 2022 

the rear facing roof slope of the development hereby approved 
without planning permission from the Local Planning Authority.   
 

12. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking 
or re-enacting that Order), no extensions or roof extensions falling 
within Schedule 2, Part 1, Class A and B of the Order shall be 
erected without obtaining planning permission from the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 

13. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking 
or re-enacting that Order) the provision within the curtilage of the 
dwelling of any building, enclosure or swimming pool as described 
in Schedule 2, Part 1, Class E of the Order shall not be undertaken 
without obtaining planning permission from the Local Planning 
Authority. 

 
 Author:         Simon Kitson 

E-mail :         planning@southoxon.gov.uk  
Contact No:  01235 422600 
 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

Page 54

mailto:planning@southoxon.gov.uk


Appendix 1

Page 55

Agenda Item 9



NOTE: 
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST CHECKED ON SITE AND ANY DISCREPANCIES MUST BE REPORTED TO THE ARCHITECT PRE-CONSTRUCTION

WRITTEN DIMENSIONS TO BE TAKEN AS PREFERENCE TO SCALED DIMENSIONS
© 2021 BLACKWATER STUDIO

SITE
69 West Chiltern, Woodcote, Oxon RG8 0SG

E: INFO@BLACKWATERSTUDIO.CO.UK

WWW.BLACKWATERSTUDIO.CO.UK

T: 01865 686478

HILLCROFT, NEWINGTON, WALLINGFORD, OXON OX10 7AH

DRAWN BY
F C

CHECKED BY
S S

DRG NO.
1041.G.5

PROJECT
Proposed new dwelling

BLACKWATER
S  T  U  D  I  O

CLIENT
Mr R Hawthorne, 27 Under Hill, Moulsford, Wallingford, Oxon OX10 9JH

00 2.0m 8.0m 4.0m 1:100 @ A2

P  R  O  P  O  S  E  D       F  R  O  N  T        E  L  E  V  A  T  I  O  N 

P  R  O  P  O  S  E  D       R  E  A  R        E  L  E  V  A  T  I  O  N 

P  R  O  P  O  S  E  D       S  I  D  E        E  L  E  V  A  T  I  O  N 

P  R  O  P  O  S  E  D       S  I  D  E        E  L  E  V  A  T  I  O  N 

ISSUE
Planning V.2 - PRELIMINARY

DATE
26.07.2021

Appendix 2

P
age 56

SAV_SIMKIT
Textbox
Withdrawn scheme P21/S2147/FUL



NOTE: 
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST CHECKED ON SITE AND ANY DISCREPANCIES MUST BE REPORTED TO THE ARCHITECT PRE-CONSTRUCTION

WRITTEN DIMENSIONS TO BE TAKEN AS PREFERENCE TO SCALED DIMENSIONS
© 2021 BLACKWATER STUDIO

SITE
69 West Chiltern, Woodcote, Oxon RG8 0SG

E: INFO@BLACKWATERSTUDIO.CO.UK

WWW.BLACKWATERSTUDIO.CO.UK

T: 01865 686478

HILLCROFT, NEWINGTON, WALLINGFORD, OXON OX10 7AH

DRAWN BY
F C

CHECKED BY
S S

DRG NO.
1041.G.2

PROJECT
Proposed new dwelling

BLACKWATER
S  T  U  D  I  O

CLIENT
Mr R Hawthorne, 27 Under Hill, Moulsford, Wallingford, Oxon OX10 9JH

P R O P O S E D    S I T E    P L A N

00 2.0m 8.0m 4.0m 1:100 @ A2

Hardstanding area to rear of site

Existing trees to be retained

Boundary wall to be retained

Profile of proposed dwelling

Site boundary

ISSUE
Planning V.2 - PRELIMINARY

DATE
26.07.2021

P
age 57

SAV_SIMKIT_1
Textbox
Withdrawn scheme P21/S2147/FUL



SITE
69 West Chiltern, Woodcote, Oxon RG8 0SG

E: INFO@BLACKWATERSTUDIO.CO.UK

WWW.BLACKWATERSTUDIO.CO.UK

T: 01865 686478

HILLCROFT, NEWINGTON, WALLINGFORD, OXON OX10 7AH

DRAWN BY
F C

CHECKED BY
S S

DRG NO.
1041.G.5

PROJECT
Proposed new dwelling

BLACKWATER
S  T  U  D  I  O

00 2.0m 8.0m 4.0m 1:100 @ A2

P  R  O  P  O  S  E  D       F  R  O  N  T        E  L  E  V  A  T  I  O  N 

P  R  O  P  O  S  E  D       R  E  A  R        E  L  E  V  A  T  I  O  N 

P  R  O  P  O  S  E  D       S  I  D  E        E  L  E  V  A  T  I  O  N 

P  R  O  P  O  S  E  D       S  I  D  E        E  L  E  V  A  T  I  O  N 

NOTE: 
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST CHECKED ON SITE AND ANY DISCREPANCIES MUST BE REPORTED TO THE ARCHITECT PRE-CONSTRUCTION

WRITTEN DIMENSIONS TO BE TAKEN AS PREFERENCE TO SCALED DIMENSIONS
© 2022 BLACKWATER STUDIO

CLIENT
Mr R Hawthorne, 27 Underhill, Moulsford, Wallingford, Oxon OX10 9JH

DATE
25.05.2022

ISSUE
Planning V.2.A

Appendix 3

P
age 58



00 1.0m 4.0m 2.0m 1:50 @ A2

SITE
69 West Chiltern, Woodcote, Oxon RG8 0SG

E: INFO@BLACKWATERSTUDIO.CO.UK

WWW.BLACKWATERSTUDIO.CO.UK

T: 01865 686478

HILLCROFT, NEWINGTON, WALLINGFORD, OXON OX10 7AH

DRAWN BY
F C

CHECKED BY
S S

DRG NO.
1041.G.4

PROJECT
Proposed new dwelling

BLACKWATER
S  T  U  D  I  O

LANDING

P 
R 

O
 P

 O
 S

 E
 D

   
 F

 I 
R 

S 
T 

   
F 

L 
O

 O
 R

   
 P

 L
 A

 N

S 01
 

BEDROOM

BEDROOM

BATH

NOTE: 
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST CHECKED ON SITE AND ANY DISCREPANCIES MUST BE REPORTED TO THE ARCHITECT PRE-CONSTRUCTION

WRITTEN DIMENSIONS TO BE TAKEN AS PREFERENCE TO SCALED DIMENSIONS
© 2022 BLACKWATER STUDIO

CLIENT
Mr R Hawthorne, 27 Underhill, Moulsford, Wallingford, Oxon OX10 9JH

DATE
25.05.2022

ISSUE
Planning V.2.A

P
age 59



00 1.0m 4.0m 2.0m 1:50 @ A2

SITE
69 West Chiltern, Woodcote, Oxon RG8 0SG

E: INFO@BLACKWATERSTUDIO.CO.UK

WWW.BLACKWATERSTUDIO.CO.UK

T: 01865 686478

HILLCROFT, NEWINGTON, WALLINGFORD, OXON OX10 7AH

DRAWN BY
F C

CHECKED BY
S S

DRG NO.
1041.G.3

PROJECT
Proposed new dwelling

BLACKWATER
S  T  U  D  I  O

STUDY

HALL

P 
R 

O
 P

 O
 S

 E
 D

   
 G

 R
 O

 U
 N

 D
   

 F
 L

 O
 O

 R
   

 P
 L

 A
 N

WC

S 01
 

LOUNGE

KITCHEN

BEDROOM

ENS’

UTILITY

DINING

NOTE: 
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST CHECKED ON SITE AND ANY DISCREPANCIES MUST BE REPORTED TO THE ARCHITECT PRE-CONSTRUCTION

WRITTEN DIMENSIONS TO BE TAKEN AS PREFERENCE TO SCALED DIMENSIONS
© 2022 BLACKWATER STUDIO

CLIENT
Mr R Hawthorne, 27 Underhill, Moulsford, Wallingford, Oxon OX10 9JH

DATE
25.05.2022

ISSUE
Planning V.2.A

P
age 60



S I T E    P L A N

L O C A T I O N    P L A N

N 

00 10.0m 40.0m 20.0m 1:500 @ A2
00 25.0m 100.0m 50.0m 1:1250 @ A2

N 

Profile of existing dwelling

Proposed parking area

New site boundary

Proposed rear garden

Location of proposed dwelling

Existing parking area

SITE
69 West Chiltern, Woodcote, Oxon RG8 0SG

E: INFO@BLACKWATERSTUDIO.CO.UK

WWW.BLACKWATERSTUDIO.CO.UK

T: 01865 686478

HILLCROFT, NEWINGTON, WALLINGFORD, OXON OX10 7AH

DRAWN BY
F C

CHECKED BY
S S

DRG NO.
1041.G.8

PROJECT
Proposed new dwelling

BLACKWATER
S  T  U  D  I  O

NOTE: 
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST CHECKED ON SITE AND ANY DISCREPANCIES MUST BE REPORTED TO THE ARCHITECT PRE-CONSTRUCTION

WRITTEN DIMENSIONS TO BE TAKEN AS PREFERENCE TO SCALED DIMENSIONS
© 2022 BLACKWATER STUDIO

CLIENT
Mr R Hawthorne, 27 Underhill, Moulsford, Wallingford, Oxon OX10 9JH

DATE
25.05.2022

ISSUE
Planning V.2.A

P
age 61



00 1.0m 4.0m 2.0m 1:50 @ A2

SITE
69 West Chiltern, Woodcote, Oxon RG8 0SG

E: INFO@BLACKWATERSTUDIO.CO.UK

WWW.BLACKWATERSTUDIO.CO.UK

T: 01865 686478

HILLCROFT, NEWINGTON, WALLINGFORD, OXON OX10 7AH

DRAWN BY
F C

CHECKED BY
S S

DRG NO.
1041.G.6

PROJECT
Proposed new dwelling

BLACKWATER
S  T  U  D  I  O

P R O P O S E D    S E C T I O N    S - 0 1  

NOTE: 
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST CHECKED ON SITE AND ANY DISCREPANCIES MUST BE REPORTED TO THE ARCHITECT PRE-CONSTRUCTION

WRITTEN DIMENSIONS TO BE TAKEN AS PREFERENCE TO SCALED DIMENSIONS
© 2022 BLACKWATER STUDIO

CLIENT
Mr R Hawthorne, 27 Underhill, Moulsford, Wallingford, Oxon OX10 9JH

DATE
25.05.2022

ISSUE
Planning V.2.A

P
age 62



NOTE: 
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST CHECKED ON SITE AND ANY DISCREPANCIES MUST BE REPORTED TO THE ARCHITECT PRE-CONSTRUCTION

WRITTEN DIMENSIONS TO BE TAKEN AS PREFERENCE TO SCALED DIMENSIONS
© 2022 BLACKWATER STUDIO

00 2.0m 8.0m 4.0m 1:100 @ A2

SITE
69 West Chiltern, Woodcote, Oxon RG8 0SG

E: INFO@BLACKWATERSTUDIO.CO.UK

WWW.BLACKWATERSTUDIO.CO.UK

T: 01865 686478

HILLCROFT, NEWINGTON, WALLINGFORD, OXON OX10 7AH

DRAWN BY
F C

CHECKED BY
S S

DRG NO.
1041.G.1

PROJECT
Proposed new dwelling

BLACKWATER
S  T  U  D  I  O

DATE
25.05.2022

E X I S T I N G    S I T E    P L A N

CLIENT
Mr R Hawthorne, 27 Underhill, Moulsford, Wallingford, Oxon OX10 9JH

ISSUE
Planning V.2.A

P
age 63



SITE
69 West Chiltern, Woodcote, Oxon RG8 0SG

E: INFO@BLACKWATERSTUDIO.CO.UK

WWW.BLACKWATERSTUDIO.CO.UK

T: 01865 686478

HILLCROFT, NEWINGTON, WALLINGFORD, OXON OX10 7AH

DRAWN BY
F C

CHECKED BY
S S

DRG NO.
1041.G.2

PROJECT
Proposed new dwelling

BLACKWATER
S  T  U  D  I  O

P R O P O S E D    S I T E    P L A N

00 2.0m 8.0m 4.0m 1:100 @ A2

Hardstanding area to rear of site

Existing trees to be retained

Boundary wall to be retained

Profile of proposed dwelling

Site boundary

Location of new timber shed

NOTE: 
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST CHECKED ON SITE AND ANY DISCREPANCIES MUST BE REPORTED TO THE ARCHITECT PRE-CONSTRUCTION

WRITTEN DIMENSIONS TO BE TAKEN AS PREFERENCE TO SCALED DIMENSIONS
© 2022 BLACKWATER STUDIO

CLIENT
Mr R Hawthorne, 27 Underhill, Moulsford, Wallingford, Oxon OX10 9JH

DATE
25.05.2022

ISSUE
Planning V.2.A

P
age 64



00 2.0m 8.0m 4.0m 1:100 @ A2

Boundary wall partially demolished to allow access

Existing boundary wall unaltered

Existing parking area retained for 2+ vehicles on site

New permeable hardstanding area for 3no vehicles in 2.7 x 5.0m bays

New 1.8mh close board timber fence to boundary

164m2 garden area provided for new dwelling

Existing wall reduced in height to 0.9m for 2m to allow 2.0m x 2.0m pedestrian visibility splay

SITE
69 West Chiltern, Woodcote, Oxon RG8 0SG

E: INFO@BLACKWATERSTUDIO.CO.UK

WWW.BLACKWATERSTUDIO.CO.UK

T: 01865 686478

HILLCROFT, NEWINGTON, WALLINGFORD, OXON OX10 7AH

DRAWN BY
F C

CHECKED BY
S S

DRG NO.
1041.G.7

PROJECT
Proposed new dwelling

BLACKWATER
S  T  U  D  I  O

NOTE: 
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST CHECKED ON SITE AND ANY DISCREPANCIES MUST BE REPORTED TO THE ARCHITECT PRE-CONSTRUCTION

WRITTEN DIMENSIONS TO BE TAKEN AS PREFERENCE TO SCALED DIMENSIONS
© 2022 BLACKWATER STUDIO

P R O P O S E D    S I T E    P L A N
CLIENT
Mr R Hawthorne, 27 Underhill, Moulsford, Wallingford, Oxon OX10 9JH

DATE
25.05.2022

ISSUE
Planning V.2.A

P
age 65



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Committee Report – 10 August 2022 

 

 

 
 APPLICATION NO. P22/S1116/FUL 
 APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION 
 REGISTERED 21.3.2022 
 PARISH WHEATLEY 
 WARD MEMBER(S) Alexandrine Kantor 
 APPLICANT Mrs Marcella Irving 
 SITE 21 Kellys Road Wheatley, OX33 1NT 
 PROPOSAL Demolition of existing detached garage. 

Erection of new contemporary two storey two 
bed dwelling. Provision of private amenity space 
with off street parking utilising existing highway 
access to Kellys Road. Provision of enclosed 
bin and bike stores. (As amended by drawing 
no 21-021-P-001-C and revised Design and 
Access Statement accompanying Agent's email 
dated 19 July 2022). 

 OFFICER Sharon Crawford 
 

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
1.1 This report sets out the justification for the recommendation to grant planning 

permission having regard to the development plan and other material planning 
considerations. The application is referred to the planning committee because 
the recommendation to approve planning permission conflicts with the views of 
the Parish Council. 
 

1.2 The application site comprises part of the garden area for 21 Kellys Road and 
would involve the demolition of a single storey, detached garage that serves no 
21 Kellys Road and sits to the west of the dwelling. In addition to the garage to 
be lost, 21 Kellys Road benefits from a single storey detached garage to the 
east of the dwelling with parking to its frontage. The site is identified on the 
map extract attached at Appendix 1. 
 
The site sits between 21 Kellys Road and the Thames Water Pumping station 
that sits in front of 23 Kellys Road. Kellys Road is built on a hill and levels 
change between neighbouring houses and across garden areas. The character 
of this part of Kellys Road is very varied in terms of size and design of 
dwellings but most are detached.  
 

1.3 THE PROPOSAL. The application seeks full planning permission for a new 
two-bedroom dwelling in a contemporary design with a flat, sedum planted 
roof, with extensive areas of glazing on the front and rear elevations. The first 
floor slightly oversails the ground floor. 
One parking space for a car is provided on the frontage of the new dwelling 
and at least two car parking spaces for 21 Kellys Road are retained on its 
frontage. Secure parking for cycles for three bicycles is provided for the new 
dwelling and 21 Kellys Road in their respective rear gardens. Screened bin 
storage for the new dwelling is provided to the front adjacent to the pavement. 

Page 67

Agenda Item 10

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P22/S1116/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Committee Report – 10 August 2022 

 

An enclosed balcony area is proposed at first floor at the rear. Reduced copies 
of the plans accompanying the application are attached at Appendix 2. 

 
2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS 
2.1 Wheatley 

Parish Council 
– Objection 

 
   

Maintain objection on the amended plans 
 

2.2 Drainage No objection subject to a condition requiring details of Surface 
Water Drainage prior to commencement. 

   
2.3 OCC Highways Original plans. Objection. The proposal seeks the demolition 

of the existing garage and the erection of a two-bedroom 
residential dwelling with provision of a single parking space. 
The site uses an existing access which served no.21 Kellys 
Road; therefore, this reduces the available parking allocation 
for the existing dwelling. 
Visibility splays have been demonstrated for consideration; 
however, this passes through land outside of the curtilage of 
this proposed dwelling. In addition, these splays are 
considered substandard which can only increase the risk to 
Highway Safety and to other users of the Highway within the 
vicinity. 
 
Given the reasons set out above the Highway Authority 
recommends Refusal to the proposal on the basis of Highway 
Safety. 
 

  Amended plans – The amended plans have addressed the 
highway concerns – no objection subject to conditions for 
access and parking. 

   
2.4 Contaminated 

Land 
Following review of the contaminated land questionnaire I 
note that no potential sources of land contamination that 
could impact the development were reported. This causes 
concern for the information submitted and its reliability as part 
of the application site was formerly Littleworth Railway Cutting 
landfill. To address this, I would ask that the applicant submits 
a contaminated land preliminary risk assessment consultant’s 

Page 68



South Oxfordshire District Council – Committee Report – 10 August 2022 

 

report in support of the application. Alternatively, should the 
applicant prefer, a contaminated land condition could be 
imposed on any planning consent to ensure any risk from 
land contamination is addressed. 

   
2.5 Energy 

Assessor  
This complies with DES 10. No objection, subject to 
imposition of compliance condition. 

   
2.6 Thames Water Thames Water would advise that with regard to WASTE 

WATER NETWORK and SEWAGE TREATMENT WORKS 
infrastructure capacity, we would not have any objection to 
the above planning application, based on the information 
provided. 

   
2.7 Neighbour 

concerns (1) 
The close proximity of a Thames Water asset namely the 
pumping station serving 20-31 Kelly s road plus the existence 
of storm drainage running south between the garage to be 
demolished and said pumping station towards the old railway 
line. The parking provision and turning space for a 2-bed 
property seems insufficient and should take into consideration 
the fact that Kelly s road narrows at this point. Consideration 
should therefore be given to inclusion of a condition in any 
consent precluding future on road parking of both visitors and 
residents. This is something being written into the deeds of 
No 20 opposite to prevent the same indeed we have placed a 
physical barrier to stop the use of the entrance to No 20 from 
Kellys road at this point for this very reason. 

   
2.8 Neighbour 

support (2) 
I am happy to support this application for a well-planned, 
discreet, development which will add to the diversity of 
housing available in Kellys Road. The only concern is whether 
there is sufficient parking in what is a narrow road. The risk of 
road or pavement parking would be an obstacle for bin lorries 
and emergency vehicles. 
 
I live in the property adjacent to the proposed new build. In 
principle I am happy to support this application. My main 
query is that there is a substantial boundary wall between 23 
and 21 supporting my garden and also the side of the 
sewerage pumping station. The plans appear to show that the 
new construction will be very close to this wall. If there is not a 
sufficient gap it will be impossible in the future to maintain or 
repair this wall (approximately 1.5m high) as necessary. 

   
2.9 Comments on 

amended 
plans (2) 

The parking definitely needs more thought the proposal in this 
amendment feels a little contrived and it is unclear how it 
works when one or other property is sold. The other factor to 
consider is parking for No21 which is reduced in this proposal. 
The road also narrows at this point with any on road parking 
affecting access for emergency vehicles and bin lorries. 

Page 69



South Oxfordshire District Council – Committee Report – 10 August 2022 

 

Inevitably cars would end up on the pavement for extended 
periods and as a norm. 
 
I am concerned at the limited off-road parking even with the 
proposed provision of an extra space at 21. Only 3 spaces for 
2 properties does not seem sufficient. 
As others have commented, Kellys Road is very narrow, so 
any on-street parking is problematic. We already find that the 
2 turning bays are being used for parking causing difficulties 
for delivery vehicles. 
I would dispute the claim made by Demarcation that "the site 
lies in a sustainable location such that a wide-range of day-to-
day facilities are accessible by non-car modes of transport". 
I have lived here for 27 years and would say that the majority 
of journeys made by the current residents are by car. 

 
3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
3.1 Nothing of relevance. 

 
4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
4.1 The site is not in a sensitive location and an EIA is not required for this 

relatively small scale of development. 
 
5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE 
5.1 Development Plan Policies 

  
 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies: 

DES1  -  Delivering High Quality Development 
DES10  -  Carbon Reduction 
DES2  -  Enhancing Local Character 
DES5  -  Outdoor Amenity Space 
DES6  -  Residential Amenity 
DES7  -  Efficient Use of Resources 
ENV3  -  Biodiversity 
ENV4  -  Watercourses 
EP4  -  Flood Risk 
H1  -  Delivering New Homes 
INF4  -  Water Resources 
TRANS5  -  Consideration of Development Proposals 
STRAT1  -  The Overall Strategy 

5.2 Neighbourhood Plan 
 Wheatley Neighbourhood Plan was made on 20 May 2021. The relevant 

Policies are: 
 
H1 - Design and Character Principles 
H2 – Landscape Character 
H4 - In-fill and Self-build Dwellings 
P1 - Parking Provision 
EN1 – Biodiversity 
 

Page 70



South Oxfordshire District Council – Committee Report – 10 August 2022 

 

5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents 
 South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse Joint Design Guide 2022 (SVJDG) 

 
5.4 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance 

 
5.5 Other Relevant Legislation 
 Human Rights Act 1998 

The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in 
the processing of the application and the preparation of this report. 

 Equality Act 2010 
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. 

 
6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
6.1 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 

applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
 
Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the 
local planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the 
Development Plan, so far as material to the application, and to any other 
material considerations. 
 
Where development conflicts with the Development Plan planning permission 
should be refused unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
Where the development plan has no relevant policies on a particular matter 
then planning permission should be granted unless the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) includes policies that protect an area or asset of 
particular importance which provide a clear reason for refusing the 
development (Paragraph 11.d) i).  
 
In the case of this application, the most relevant parts of the Development 
Plan are the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) and the Wheatley 
Neighbourhood Plan 2021 (WNP). 
 
The relevant planning considerations are the following: 

 Principle of development  

 Impact on the character and appearance of area 

 Design and character 

 Residential amenity of neighbours 

 Residential amenity of occupants 

 Access and parking 

 Drainage and flooding 

 Ecology 

 Carbon reduction 

 Other material planning considerations 
 

6.2 Principle of development. The spatial strategy in Policy STRAT1 of the 
SOLP establishes a settlement hierarchy where the amount and location of 

Page 71



South Oxfordshire District Council – Committee Report – 10 August 2022 

 

new housing is related to the availability of facilities and services in order to 
achieve a sustainable pattern of development. Policy H1 of the SOLP also 
deals with the delivery of new homes, allowing new housing on allocated sites 
(including Neighbourhood Plan (NP) allocations). Where there is no NP the 
residential development in the larger villages will be assessed under policy H4 
of the SOLP. In this case Wheatley have a made NP in place and the SOLP 
policy H1 is relevant, allowing for new residential development where; 

 
In addition, Policy H4 of the WNP allows for Infill development within the 
settlement where it reflects the scale and character of the village 
 

6.2i Assessing the site against the SOLP H1 and WNP H4 criteria,  

 The site is within the built-up limits of the village  

 it is not an important open space, has no special ecological or historic 
interest and does not form part of an important view 

 scale, design and character will be assessed in the following 
paragraphs. 

 
I believe that the principle of housing on the site is acceptable in accordance 
with the SOLP H1 and WNP H4 policies. 
 

6.4 Design and character. Policy DES1 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that all 
new development is of a high-quality design. Policy DES2 states that all new 
development must be designed to reflect the positive features that make up 
the character of the local area and should both physically and visually 
enhance and complement the surroundings. 
Policy H1 of the WNP echoes these policies requiring development to comply 
with many of the principles of the SODG (now the SVJDG). 
 

6.4i The Parish Council have objected to the proposal on the grounds that the 
proposal appears cramped and incongruous in the street scene.  The plot is 
narrow and there is limited space to the side boundaries of the proposed 
building to provide a landscape setting for the new dwelling. However, this 
close relationship is somewhat ameliorated by the change of levels and 
building lines between the new dwelling and 23 Kellys Road. It is also helped 
by the space provided by the Thames Water pumping station on the road 
frontage which provides a gap between the dwellings. The boundary to 23 
Kellys Road is also skewed and all these factors help to provide a more 
spacious feeling to the west. On balance the new dwelling will not appear 
unduly cramped due to the more spacious setting to the other side with 23 
Kellys Road and the Thames Water pumping station. In my view, the impact 
on the character of the area of the close relationship with 21 is not so harmful 
to warrant a refusal of planning permission. 
 

Page 72



South Oxfordshire District Council – Committee Report – 10 August 2022 

 

6.4ii The Parish Council also object on the grounds that the proposal fails to 
respect the domestic proportions of the residential dwellings in the area and 
does not reinforce local distinctiveness. The design put forward is 
contemporary and is relatively small as a two-bedroom unit. There is a 
contemporary new dwelling at 20a to the west in very close proximity to the 
site and the surrounding character along Kellys Road is diverse. I consider 
that the proposed dwelling will add to the existing diversity and would accord 
with the Development Plan design policies. In addition the provision of a 
smaller dwelling would add to the range of housing stock in the area. 
 

6.4iii Images of 20a Kellys Road to the 
west 

 
 

 

 

6.5 Residential amenity of neighbours. Policy DES6 of the SOLP aims to 
protect the amenity of neighbouring uses from loss of privacy or day/sunlight, 
visual intrusion, noise, contamination or external lighting. The main impact of 
the development will be felt by 23 to the west and 21 (the applicant) to the 
east. There will be some limited impact but on the property opposite 20 Kellys 
Road. 
 
 

6.5.i Impact on 21 Kellys Road 
Elevation to 21 

 

Extract from block plan 

 

Page 73



South Oxfordshire District Council – Committee Report – 10 August 2022 

 

6.5.ii The proposed new dwelling projects some 5.5 m to the rear of 21 Kellys Road 
and would be some 5.3 m in height. The orientation of the site with the new 
dwelling being due west of 21 Kellys Road means that some late 
afternoon/evening sun would be blocked to 21 Kellys Road, but full sun would 
be available in the mornings and for a good portion of the afternoon. I 
consider this relationship acceptable and not dissimilar to other relationships 
in Kellys Road. There are no first-floor windows proposed on the side 
elevation to 21 Kellys Road. However, a balcony on the side facing 21 Kellys 
Road is proposed which has the potential to overlook the garden of 21 Kellys 
Road. To prevent overlooking, I have suggested a condition to ensure that a 
privacy screen to a height of 1.8 metres is provided along the side boundary 
of the balcony to 21 Kellys Road. I am satisfied that there will be no 
overlooking associated with the balcony with the addition of this condition. I 
have also suggested a condition to remove permitted development rights for 
extensions so that the council retain control of any later proposal for an 
extension as this could have an unneighbourly impact. Overall, I consider the 
impact on 21 Kellys Road to be acceptable. 
 

6.5iii Impact on 23 Kellys Road 
 
Elevation to 23 

 
 

Photograph of side elevation of 23 
Kellys Road 

 
 

6.5.iv There is change of levels between the proposed new dwelling and 23 Kellys 
Road, with 23 Kellys Road being some 1m higher than the proposed dwelling. 
There is also a Thames Valley pumping station at the front of the site which 
has meant that 23 Kellys Road is also located further back into the site with a 
double garage located on the boundary to the pumping station at the front of 
the site. The side-to-side distance between the new dwelling and 23 Kellys 
Road will be some 10 metres and the impact is reduced to some degree by 
the garage, pumping station and the change in levels.   
 
Given the distance, change in levels and lack of windows on the side 
elevations of either dwelling, I conclude that the development will not result in 
any overlooking nor be oppressive. In my view the proposal accords with 
policy DES6 of the SOLP. 

Page 74



South Oxfordshire District Council – Committee Report – 10 August 2022 

 

6.6 Residential amenity of occupants. Policy DES5 of the SOLP aims to 
ensure that all new dwellings have an adequate provision of private outdoor 
garden space. The garden size is dictated by the number of bedrooms and 
minimum garden sizes are prescribed in the SVJDG. For 2-bedroom 
dwellings the private amenity area should be at least 50 sqm in size. The 
proposed plot is large and provides for some 381 sqm of garden area and 
easily exceeds the minimum standard. In addition, the retained garden for 21 
Kelly’s Road also exceeds the minimum standard of 100sqm by providing 
some 598 sqm of garden area. The proposal accords with Policy DES5 of the 
SOLP.  
 

6.7 Access and Parking. With respect to highway safety matters the advice from 
Central Government set out in the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) makes it clear that development should only be prevented or refused 
on transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of the 
development are severe.  
 
The term severe is locally interpreted as situations, which have a high impact, 
likely to result in loss of life, or a higher possibility of occurrence with a lower 
impact.  
 
Policy TRANS5 requires that all development provides safe and convenient 
access and parking. 
 
Policy P1 of the WNP requires new development to provide adequate parking 
in line with standards.  
 
Policy TRANS2 of the SOLP also promotes sustainable forms of transport 
and accessibility by ensuring that new development is close to or along 
existing public transport corridors. New development should also be designed 
to encourage walking and cycling. 
 

6.7i The Oxfordshire County Council Parking Standards 2012 require that a 
maximum of 2 spaces per 2-bedroom units and above are provided. 
 
However, the OCC standards at para 2.2 do make it clear that: 
 

  
 
There is some flexibility built into the standards to control parking levels 
according to need without creating over provision nor creating indiscriminate 
parking. This means that in some circumstances a provision fewer than two 
parking spaces may be acceptable. In this case it is pertinent that Wheatley is 
a highly sustainable location with good access to public transport and other 
amenities which are all within easy walking distance. In such cases, it is 
reasonable to allow some flexibility in the amount of parking provided.  

Page 75



South Oxfordshire District Council – Committee Report – 10 August 2022 

 

6.7ii The application provides one onsite parking space for the new dwelling and 
two on drive spaces and a garage space for 21 Kellys Road. Given the 
sustainable location and the characteristics of the highway, this level of 
parking is considered acceptable in my view.  
 
Amended plans have been provided which have addressed the Highway 
Officer’s concerns in relation to the visibility splay and there is now no 
technical objection to the proposal on highways grounds. 
 
A condition is included to ensure that parking spaces and the vision splays 
are provided in accordance with the submitted plans. The proposal takes in to 
account the sustainable location and provides adequate parking standards for 
the locality in accordance with the Development plan policies. 
 

6.8 Drainage Policy INF4 of the SOLP aims to ensure that development 
proposals demonstrate that there is or will be adequate water supply, surface 
water, foul drainage and sewerage treatment capacity to serve the whole 
development. Policy EP4 of the SOLP aims to minimise flood risk directing 
new development to areas of the lowest probability of flooding and also aims 
to achieve sustainable drainage systems.  
 

6.8i The site lies in flood zone 1 which has the lowest probability of flooding and 
the proposal is acceptable in these terms. 
 
With regard to water resources, the new dwelling will connect into the existing 
foul water system. The Council’s Drainage Engineer has agreed that a foul 
water drainage condition is not required. 
 
In respect of surface water drainage, the Drainage Engineer has requested a 
condition for additional details to be submitted and agreed which I consider to 
be reasonable and necessary. 
 

6.8ii Thames Water were consulted in response to concerns from the parish and 
neighbours about the capacity of the sewage system. Thames Water have 
advised that with regard to the wastewater network and sewage treatment 
works infrastructure capacity, they would not have any objection to the 
proposal, based on the information provided. 
 
The proposal complies with the drainage policies of the Development Plan in 
my view. 
 

6.9 Ecology. Policy ENV3 of SOLP 2035 aims to ensure that there is a net gain 
of biodiversity as a result of development proposals. As a minimum there 
should be no net loss of biodiversity. 
The site currently comprises residential garden area with a single, flat roofed 
garage at the front of the site. No trees or hedges are to be removed as a 
result of the development.   
 

6.9i The Design and Access statement details that the scheme proposes the use 
of a flat ‘planted’ roof. This planted deck will consist of a wildflower / sedum 

Page 76



South Oxfordshire District Council – Committee Report – 10 August 2022 

 

mix, which provide an important habitat for foraging bees and other small-
scale wildlife such as moths, butterflies and grasshoppers. In addition to the 
above, new hedging is proposed to form the new boundary between the new 
dwelling and 21 Kellys Road. New trees are also proposed in the rear garden. 
The new hedge will be made up of native bird friendly species, e.g., 
Hawthorn, Blackthorn, Wild Cherry, Bird Cherry, Wild Privet and Spindle. The 
mix outlined is intended to encourage a wide range of species to enjoy the 
structural diversity provided by hedges. With the provision of the sedum roof 
and provision of new hedging and planting, there is a net gain in biodiversity 
on the site as a result of the proposal. A landscaping condition is 
recommended to ensure that the biodiversity enhancements are provided. As 
such the development accords with Policy ENV3 of the SOLP. 
 

6.10 Carbon reduction. Policy DES10 of the SOLP requires energy statements 
for new dwellings to demonstrate how the design would address a reduction 
of 40% in carbon emissions compared to the building regulations 2013.  
 
An energy statement and SAP calculations have been submitted with the 
application. The Energy Assessor has confirmed that the energy statement 
and supporting SAP Report demonstrates that the design specification offset 
of carbon emissions associated with energy use improve for the proposed 
dwelling by 45.05% per annum against Part L1A compliant base cases. The 
need to comply with the energy statement and calculations has been added 
as a condition.  As such the development accords with SOLP Policy DES10. 
 

6.11 Community Infrastructure Levy 
 The development is liable for £10,322.18 of CIL money 25% of which will go 

to Wheatley Parish Council because there is made Neighbourhood Plan.  
 

6.12 Pre-commencement conditions. 
In accordance with the Town & Country Planning (Pre-commencement 
Conditions) Regulations, 2018, all pre-commencement conditions have been 
agreed with the applicant. 

 
7.0 CONCLUSION 
 The application has been assessed against relevant policies in the development 

plan, the NPPF, PPG, the adopted SPD’s and all other material planning 
considerations. 
 

7.1 Planning permission is granted because Wheatley is a sustainable location 
where the infill development and allocations are permitted in principle.  
 
The design of the new dwelling is contemporary but is not at odds with the 
diverse character of dwellings along Kellys Road or the character of the area. 
The site would provide an acceptable amount of private amenity space and 
does not result in a materially harmful unneighbourly impact to adjacent 
properties. Conditions are proposed relating to highway matters, drainage, 
landscaping and neighbour amenity.  
 

Page 77



South Oxfordshire District Council – Committee Report – 10 August 2022 

 

The development accords with the relevant development plan policies in the 
Development Plan Policies. 

 
8.0 RECOMMENDATION 
8.1 To grant Planning Permission subject to the following conditions 

 
8.2 Standard 

1. Commencement of development within 3 years 
2. Development in accordance with approved plans 

 
Pre-commencement 

3. Details of levels to be submitted 
4. Details of materials to be submitted 
5. Details of surface water drainage to be submitted 
6. Contaminated Land - Linked Conditions (1) 

 
Pre-occupation 

7. Contaminated Land - Linked Conditions (2) 
8. Energy Statement Verification 
9. New vehicular access  
10. Parking & Manoeuvring Areas to be provided 
11. Cycle parking in accordance with plan 
12. Landscaping implantation 
13. Electric Vehicles Charging Point (implementation) 
14. Prevention of overlooking from the balcony 

 
Compliance 

15. Withdrawal of P.D. (Part 1 Class A) - no extensions 
16. No Surface Water Drainage to Highway 
17. Unsuspected contamination 

 
 Author:         Sharon Crawford 

E-mail :         planning@southoxon.gov.uk  
Contact No:  01235 422600 
 

 

Page 78

mailto:planning@southoxon.gov.uk


Page 79

Agenda Item 10

SAV_SHACRA
Typewriter
Appendix 1

SAV_SHACRA_1
Typewriter
The site

SAV_SHACRA_2
Arrow

SAV_SHACRA_3
Arrow

SAV_SHACRA_4
Typewriter
Other contemporary 
design - 20A

SAV_SHACRA_5
Polygon

SAV_SHACRA_6
Arrow

SAV_SHACRA_7
Typewriter
Thames Water 
pumping
Station



Appendix 2

P
age 80


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	Minutes
	29 June 22 - SODC draft planning committee minutes
	20 July 22 - SODC draft planning committee minutes

	8 P21/S4923/FUL: Cholsey Free Church 26A Honey Lane Cholsey, OX10 9NL
	Appendices 1-2
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2  Proposed Bin & Bike Store
	Sheets and Views
	26a honey lane Cholsey free church Wallingford OX10 9NL.V5-Details-05


	Appendix 2 Block Plans
	Sheets and Views
	26a honey lane Cholsey free church Wallingford OX10 9NL.V5-Block plans06


	Appendix 2 Elevations Existing
	Sheets and Views
	26a honey lane Cholsey free church Wallingford OX10 9NL.V5-Exis.Elevations-02


	Appendix 2 Elevations Proposed
	Sheets and Views
	26a honey lane Cholsey free church Wallingford OX10 9NL.V5-Prop.Elevations-04


	Appendix 2 Floor Plans Existing
	Sheets and Views
	26a honey lane Cholsey free church Wallingford OX10 9NL.V5-Exis.plans-01


	Appendix 2 Floor Plans Proposed
	Sheets and Views
	26a honey lane Cholsey free church Wallingford OX10 9NL.V5-Prop Plans-03




	9 P22/S0429/FUL: Land at 69 West Chiltern Woodcote, RG8 0SG
	Appendices 1-3
	Appendix 1 Location Plan
	Appendix 2a Elevations Proposed drwgno 1041.G.5.V2
	Appendix 2b Site Plan Proposed drwgno 1041.G.1.V2
	Appendix 3a Elevation Proposed drwgno 1041.G.5 V2A
	Appendix 3b Floor Plan First Proposed drwgno 1041.G.4 V2A
	Appendix 3c Floor Plan Ground Proposed drwgno 1041.G.3 V2A
	Appendix 3d Location & Site Plan drwgno 1041.G.8 V2A
	Appendix 3e Section Plan Proposed drwgno 1041.G.6 V2A
	Appendix 3f Site Plan Existing drwgno 1041.G.1 V2A
	Appendix 3g Site Plan Proposed drwgno 1041.G.2 V2A
	Appendix 3h Site Plan Proposed drwgno 1041.G.7 V2A


	10 P22/S1116/FUL: 21 Kellys Road Wheatley, OX33 1NT
	Appendices 1-2
	Appendix 1.
	Appendix 2.





